
Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
Board Meeting - Washington County Annex, Chipley, FL 

Monday, December 10, 2018, 10:00 a.m. 
 

1 
 

AGENDA 
 
I. Call to Order By Authority Chairman. 
 

A. Roll Call: Authority Chairman Hawkins (Washington County); Director Powell 
(Holmes County); Director Brooks (City of Bonifay) 

 
II. Approval of the December 10, 2018 Meeting Agenda.  
 
III. Approval of the Minutes from the September 26, 2018 Meeting.  
 
IV. Public Comment.  
 
V. General Business.   
 

A. Direction on outstanding solicitations for General Manager and Executive 
Assistant positions. 

 
B. Update on engineering firm, planning firm, and financial management firm RFQs.  
 
C. Update on “phase one” $100,000 grant agreement between Opportunity Florida 

and the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) and additional existing 
$1,821,416 grant agreement between the Florida Department of Economic 
Opportunity (DEO) and Washington County.  

 
D. Discussion of preparation of annual Authority budget and general discussion of 

Authority revenue sources and Request Board Direction on Revenue Validation 
Study and interlocals with member governments.   

 
E. Request Board authorization to pursue “phase two” grant agreement between 

Authority and FDOT governing estimated $900,000 of appropriated funds for 
design and construction of water and wastewater improvements.  

 
F. Request Board authorization to register the Authority as a special district with 

DEO and complete all filings and pay the annual special district fees associated 
with same.    

 
G. Board discussion regarding the creation of an Authority website.  
 
H. Board discussion of the regular schedule of Authority meetings for 2019. 
 
I. Request Board Authorization to Establish an Audit Committee to Procure an 

Independent Auditor 
 



Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
Board Meeting - Washington County Annex, Chipley, FL 

Monday, December 10, 2018, 10:00 a.m. 
 

2 
 

J. Update on Authority filings (EIN and Sales Tax Exemption). 
  

VI. Adjourn. 



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 1 

 

 

 

I. Call to Order by Washington County BOCC Chairman as meeting host.  Commissioner 

Hawkins called the meeting held on September 26, 2018 at 2:00 p.m. to order.   

 

A. Roll Call:  Roger Brooks, Vice Mayor, Representative from the City of Bonifay, Clint 

Erickson, Holmes County Commissioner, Tray Hawkins, Washington County 

Commissioner, District 3, Risha Brantley, Deputy Clerk, and Lora C. Bell, Washington 

County Clerk of Court were in attendance.  

 

Heather Encinosa, Esq. (Legal Counsel for Authority) 

 

B. Guests:  Legal Counsel for Authority Members with Brandon Young, Esq. (Holmes 

County); Michelle Jordan, Esq. (City of Bonifay); Clay Milton, Esq. (Washington 

County) 

 

C. Past Members of the Planning Committee:  Ted Everett, Jim Town, etc.   

 

II. Public Comment – None  

 

III. Establishment of Highway 79 Corridor Authority – Heather Encinosa, Esq. requested 

a verbal confirmation that each entity has approved the inter‐local agreement and it 

has been filed according to state law.   

 

A. Acknowledgement of Approval and Filing of Inter‐Local Agreement to Establish the 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority ‐ Tray Hawkins, Clint Erickson, and Roger Brooks 

verbally advised that each of their entities have processed the inter‐local agreement.   

 

B. Acknowledge Appointments to Represent each Member with Terms of office as 

provided in Section 3.02 of the inter‐local agreement – Tray Hawkins acknowledged 

that he is the appointee for Washington County, Clint Erickson acknowledged that 

he is the appointee for Holmes County District 5, and Roger Brooks acknowledged 

that he is the appointee for the City of Bonifay.   

 

 

IV. Selection of Chairman, Vice‐Chairman, and Secretary/Treasurer:  Heather 

Encinosa, Authority Legal Counsel  

 



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 2 

 

 

Clint Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to appoint 

Tray Hawkins chairman.  Tray Hawkins accepted.    

 

Tray Hawkins offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to appoint 

Clint Erickson as vice‐chairman.  Clint Erickson accepted.   

 

Commissioner Hawkins offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to 

table the secretary/treasurer appointment until the authority has the ability to hire a 

director. 

 

V. General Business  

 

A. Sunshine and Public Records Briefing – Heather Encinosa, Esq. provided 
background on parliamentary procedures.  The by‐laws direct that the simplified 

version of Roberts Rules of Order will be used.   

 

Heather Encinosa advised the authority that they are obligated to comply with 

the same laws as the county and city oblige to, including the sunshine, and public 

records laws, which she went over.  There are also ethics requirements.   

 

Chairman Hawkins confirmed that each entity does not have to advertise a 

separate advertisement for the meetings.   

 

Clay Milton advised the authority that at a point they will need to obtain legal 

counsel.   

 

Code of ethics are applicable to elected officials and certain employees.   

 

Chairman Hawkins confirmed that included in certain employees is the general 

manager.   

 

Heather Encinosa advised that is correct as well and an attorney, procurement 

official, and various others on a case by case basis.   

 

The manager is not required to obtain ethics hours, unlike elected officials.   

 



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 3 

 

 

Clint Erickson advised that the manager will have to complete form 1/financial 

form. 

 

Heather Encinosa advised that is correct, which has to be filed within 30‐days of 

their engagement.   

 

Clint Erickson questioned if there is a conflict with him being on the corridor 

authority board due to his current employment with Washington County.   

 

Tray Hawkins clarified that Clint Erickson is the 911 Coordinator for the county.   

 

Heather Encinosa advised, no.   

 

B. Adoption of Hwy. 79 Corridor Authority Bylaws and Governance Procedures –  

 

Clint Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to approve 

the Hwy. 79 Corridor Authority Bylaws and Governance Procedures.   

 

C. Adoption of Hwy. 79 Corridor Authority Purchasing Policy –  

 

Ted Everett addressed the board.  Due to the authority not having a general 

manager at this point, if there are any invoices that need to be paid the 

Opportunity Florida will continue to take care of this matter until the general 

manager is hired.   

 

The purchasing from Opportunity Florida is for legal invoices only.   

 

Clint Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to approve 

the Hwy. 79 Authority purchasing policy.   

 

 

 

D. Approval of the Job Descriptions, Pay Ranges for the General Manager, and 

Executive Assistant/Authorization for the Chairman to recruit for the General 

Manager position – Heather Encinosa advised the authority that the pay range is 

$57,283.00 – 67,475.00, minimum qualifications include a bachelor’s degree in 



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 4 

 

 

public administration, business administration or engineering or another related 

field, and 10‐years of project management experience.   

 

The executive assistance and the general manager have the same outline of 

responsibilities and the salary range is $34,944.00 – 41,163.00, with the 

qualifications being an associate’s degree in business administration, marketing, 

or related field and 10‐years of experience with general office management.   

 

Tray Hawkins asked once the employees are hired, where do their benefits 

generate from; Washington County? 

 

Jim Town advised that the inter‐local agreement was set up as such that the 

employees would fall under the Washington County Human Resource’s policy 

and procedures but the expense is fully reimbursable to the county.   

 

Tray Hawkins confirmed that the employee goes away if the corridor is no 

longer.   

 

Attorney Milton suggested that another inter‐local agreement be established 

between the Washington County Board and the authority that establishes that 

the authority is adopting the county’s employment policy.   

 

Jeff Massey, County Administrator for the Washington County BOCC clarified 

that the employee will not be an employee of Washington County.   

 

Tray Hawkins advised that the employee will receive the benefit package as a 

contract employee. 

 

Ted Everett advised the board that the positions will be listed on Opportunity 

Florida’s website.   

 

Jim Town updated the authority.  $1,000,000.00 is positioned at FDOT.  The first 

$100,000.00 was earmarked for legal.  The $900,000.00 rolls over to the 

construction side.  $1,800,00.00 is positioned at DEO under the Jobs Growth 

Grant.  A condition included in the grant is money isn’t drawn until after the first 

40%.   

 



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 5 

 

 

Washington County agreed to spend $540,000.00 in support of the authority and 

then request reimbursement from DEO. 

 

Ted Everett advised that there is an extension on the $1,000,000.00 until the end 

of the year.  Opportunity has been negotiating on the corridor’s behalf but now 

that responsibility belongs to the corridor.   

 

Clint Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to approve 

to advertise the job description, with stated pay ranges for general manager and 

executive assistant as well as authorize the chairman to recruit for the general 

manager’s position, with opening day being October 3rd and closing day October 

24th.  The next scheduled meeting is November 7th at 3:30 p.m.  

 

E. Approval of RFP’s for Engineering Services, Financial/CPA Services, and Planning 

Services/Authorization for the Chairman to initiate and coordinate the 

procurements processes –  

 

Roger Brooks offered a motion, seconded by Clint Erickson and carried to approve 

the RFP’s for engineering services, financial/CPA services, and planning services 

as well as authorization for the chairman to initiate and coordinate the 

procurements processes.   

 

The authority agreed that they would wait to run the services referenced in item 

E. until the general manager is hired.   

 

Jim Town advised the authority that they submitted the last quarterly reports to 

FDOT and DEO.  The next quarterly report will be due as of September 30.   

 

Clint Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried for Jim 

Town to submit the quarterly reports due September 30, 2018.   

 

Clint Erickson suggested to run the RFP’s and allow the general manager to 

review them once hired.   

 

Jim Town advised the board that Nabors & Giblin prepared the RFP’s in 

conjunction with the procurement policy.  He suggested to allow Nabors & Giblin 

to fill in the dates with guidance from the authority.   



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 6 

 

 

 

Tray Hawkins confirmed the RFP’s will be advertised beginning October 10th and 

run to November 14th with the award process scheduled for December 10th at 

3:30 p.m.   

 

He advised the authority that he will open the RFP’s on the 14th and send them 

out to the other members of the authority.   

 

F. Board Direction on the Revenue Validation Study to establish the mechanism to 

fund Authority operations –  

 

Jim Town updated the board.  When the original feasibility study was done in 

2015, the revenue was tied to growth factors, which include increased ad 

valorem, water/sewer, etc.  In the original plan back to 2015 $25,000.00 was 

included for the feasibility study for the revenue.  The revenue validation study 

has not been done yet.  The final revenue validation study may fund the 

authority differently than the original model.   

 

The positive is that there is currently no debt.   

 

There should be someone to concentrate on revenue and establish a plan for the 

best way to get money from the three jurisdictions based on growth.   

 

Attorney Milton addressed Jim Town for clarification.  His understanding was 

that the engineering firm would start the process to find somebody.  Essentially 

there would be a second RFP of some sort for that; not necessarily a validation 

proceeding because there is no; the funding source that the engineering firm 

would have been retaining and/or preparing another RFP for that purpose.  Is 

that the intention? 

 

Jim Town advised that the original intent was that the revenue study would be 

completed at this point and retained by the authority directly.   

 

Attorney Milton asked what is the job of the engineer? 

 

Jim Town advised there is a requirement under FDOT and DEO to have a certified 

engineering firm that supervises getting the design.   



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 7 

 

 

 

Roger Brooks asked if there would be an issue with Mott McDonald applying for 

the job due to them being the engineering firm for the City of Bonifay?   

 

Heather Encinosa advised that would be a question that would need to be asked 

during the RFP process for asking questions.   

 

Essentially what is being done is obtaining a slate of engineers on staff that work 

orders can be done to.   

 

Attorney Milton clarified that what is being advertised is continued engineer 

service agreements.   

 

Clay Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to table 

the Board of Director validation study to establish a mechanism to fund the 

authority operation.   

 

G. Update on outstanding grants – Ted Everett updated the authority.  There is 
$900,000.00 that is dedicated after legal fees from the first grant of 

$1,000,000.00 and the $1,800,000.00 has not been touched at this point.   

 

H. Use of Washington County and Holmes County staff on a reimbursable basis until 

the Authority has a General Manager and Executive Assistant –  

 

Roger Brooks offered a motion, seconded by Clint Erickson to allow for the use of 

Washington and Holmes County staff on a reimbursable basis until the authority 

has a general manager and executive assistant.   

 

Attorney Milton advised that the above motion will need to be brought before 

the board of the entity’s that are involved.   

 

It was confirmed by Tray Hawkins and Jim Town that the above is included in the 

inter‐local agreement.   

 

Tray Hawkins requested Attorney Milton check the specific language to ensure 

that it is included in the inter‐local agreement.   

 



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 8 

 

 

Clint Erickson questioned county staff being reimbursed for vehicle usage, phone 

service, and utilities. 

 

Tray Hawkins advised that he does not see where a vehicle will be needed.  

 

Roger Brooks addressed the authority.  It is his understanding that the cost for 

office space would be including in reimbursement cost.   

 

Tray Hawkins advised that rent and leases are included in the budget.  That will 

be a negotiation between the authority and the City of Bonifay.   

 

Roger Brooks advised they have held discussion and feel that they have 

adequate space in which separate offices will be provided.   

 

I. Initial Location for Authority offices ‐  Roger Brooks offered a motion, seconded 

by Clint Erickson and carried to table the location of the authority offices until the 

next meeting.   

 

J. Establishment of Authority EIN and Florida Sales Tax Exemption Status, and filing 

of other entity documents – Clint Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger 

Brooks and carried to allow Nabors & Giblen to handle the EIN and Florida sales 

tax exemption. 

 

K. Set the next Board meeting date, time, place – The authority agreed to set the 

next meeting on November 7th, at 3:30 p.m.  

 

Tray Hawkins requested the meetings continue to be held in Washington County 

while the clerk’s staff attends the meetings until the other staff is in place.   

 

Roger Brooks requested the meeting scheduled for November 7th be held at 

10:00 a.m.  

 

The authority agreed with the change in time.   

 

Clint Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to hold the 

next Highway 79 Corridor Authority meeting at the Washington County Annex on 

November 7, at 10:00 a.m.  



H w y .   7 9   C o r r i d o r   A u t h o r i t y  
O r g a n i z a t i o n a l   M e e t i n g  

W a s h i n g t o n   C o u n t y   A n n e x  
C h i p l e y ,   F l o r i d a    

S e p t e m b e r   2 6 ,   2 0 1 8  
2 : 0 0   p . m .  

P a g e  | 9 

 

 

 

L. Notify FDOT and DEO by letter from the Chairman that the Authority is activated 

and providing the Directors, Officers, and provide a phone, email and mailing 

address – Ted Everett offered to provide the information.   

 

The authority has been organized.   

 

VI. Future Board Items  

 

A. Transfer of Financial Operations at a future date from Opportunity Florida to the 

Authority when it has accounting capabilities for the $1,000,000.00 appropriated 

fund administered by FDOT District 3 and from Washington County to the 

Authority for the $1,821,416.00 in the FJGIG administered by DEO.  

 

B. The Annual Budget is deferred until it can be prepared by a General Manager as 

soon after October 1st as possible and approved by the Authority.  The Activation 

Budget prepared by the Planning Committee may be used as a guideline of 

anticipated expenses considered by the Chairman when approving 

disbursements.  

 

C.  

Heather Encinosa advised the authority that once the manager is hired the 

manager a website needs to be established.  

 

VII. Adjourn – Clint Erickson offered a motion, seconded by Roger Brooks and carried to 

adjourn. 

 

_____________________________   _____________________________ 

            Minute Approval Date       Chairman Signature  

 

 

 

 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. A 

Direction on Outstanding Solicitations for General Manager and Executive 
Assistant positions. 

 
 

Executive Summary:  
 
This item requests Board direction on outstanding solicitations for the General Manager 
and Executive Assistant positions. 
 
Background:  
 
At the September 2018 Board meeting, the Board authorized the advertisement of two 
employment positions within the Authority: General Manager and Executive Assistant. 
The positions were both advertised in local newspapers and on the internet. However, 
as of the date of this writing, the Authority has not received any interested responses to 
either of the solicitations.   
 
As an alternative to the Authority’s hiring of employees to fill these positions, the Board 
may wish to consider contracting with a professional consulting firm with expertise in 
special district management. Such firms are generally capable of providing 
administrative and operations management, services related to public meetings and 
public records, financial management and oversight, and related services.  Some of the 
advantages of using a management firm in lieu of employees are: 

(1) No need to establish and manage employee benefits or compensation; 
(2) No need to formulate and adopt a personnel policy; 
(3) Ability to scale work and expenditures to Authority’s needs and budget 

rather than taking on an employment commitment. 
 
By way of example, several firms with experience in providing special district 
management services are listed in Attachment 1 to this Agenda Item. The initial step in 
pursuing this option would be through the Board’s authorization of the issuance of a 
Request for Qualifications (RFQ) seeking special district management services in 
accordance with the Authority’s Purchasing Policy. Given the urgent need to obtain 
general management services, the Board may also wish to consider waiving the 
requirements of the purchasing policy and conducting an expedited procurement 
process in this instance by directing staff to obtain several written proposals that can be 
brought to the Board for consideration at a meeting in early 2019.  
 
Options: 
 
Option #1.  Direct the preparation and advertisement of an RFQ seeking interested 
firms capable of providing special district management services to the Authority.  



2 
 

Option #2.  Direct General Counsel to bring proposals from identified firms to Authority 
in January and waive the Purchasing Policy. 
 
Option #3.  Continue to seek qualified employees to fill the General Manager and/or 
Executive Assistant positions and expand advertising efforts.  
 
Option #4.  Board direction.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
Option #4 
 
Attachment: 
 
1.  Informational materials for the following firms with expertise in Florida Special District 
Management:  
 DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC; 
 Fishkind and Associates 
 Government Management Services, LLC 
 Government Services Group, Inc. 
 Inframark 
 Rizzetta & Company, Inc. 
 Special District Services, Inc. 
 Wrathell, Hunt and Associates, LLC. 
 

 



GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.A, ATTACHMENT 1 



























































GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.A, ATTACHMENT 2 



11/26/2018 CDD Management – Fishkind and Associates

http://fishkindandassociates.vglobaltech.com/cdd-management#1513784182677-68c3fe61-9754 1/4

About CDD Management

Fishkind & Associates, Inc. has extensive experience providing consulting and management services to special districts located throughout

Florida. Our �rm provides services at every stage of a district’s life from establishment to full development. We o�er Financial Advisory

Services and District Management Services (including Administrative Services, Accounting, Minutes and Public Records Services, and Lien

Book & Tax Roll Services.

Special District Financial Advisory Services

Special District Management Services

CDD MANAGEMENT



11/26/2018 CDD Management – Fishkind and Associates

http://fishkindandassociates.vglobaltech.com/cdd-management#1513784182677-68c3fe61-9754 2/4

p g

Fishkind & Associates, Inc. provides ongoing district management services to many successful special districts throughout the

state, including several of the largest districts within the State of Florida – the Lakewood Ranch Stewardship District and the

Babcock Ranch Community Independent Special District. Our district management services include managing the public

records, public meetings, accounting, and other operations of a district. 

Summaries of the district management-related services we provide are found below:

District Management - Administrative Services

District Management - Accounting Services

District Management - Minutes and Public Records Services

District Management - Lien Book and Tax Roll Services

CDD and Special District Download

Location map depicting Community Development Districts and Special Districts managed by Fishkind & Associates. Please see below for

details and downloads for each CDD / Special District.

Go to CDD Site

Select CDD

Submit



11/26/2018 CDD Management – Fishkind and Associates

http://fishkindandassociates.vglobaltech.com/cdd-management#1513784182677-68c3fe61-9754 3/4

Contact

Under Florida Law, e-mail addresses are public records. If you do not want your e-mail address released in response to a public records

request, do not send electronic mail to this entity. Instead, contact this o�ce by phone or in writing.

For additional information about the Greeneway Improvement District please contact Jennifer Walden

Greeneway Improvement District management services provided by:

Fishkind and Associates, Inc. 

12051 Corporate Blvd. 

Orlando, FL 32817



11/26/2018 CDD Management – Fishkind and Associates

http://fishkindandassociates.vglobaltech.com/cdd-management#1513784182677-68c3fe61-9754 4/4

CDD FAQ’s

General information related to Community Development Districts is available for download in an Adobe Acrobat (PDF) �le format.

Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ)

http://fishkindandassociates.vglobaltech.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/cdd_faq.pdf


GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.A, ATTACHMENT 3 



11/26/2018 About Us | Government Services Group

https://weservegovernments.com/about-us/ 1/3

ABOUT US

Established in 1996, Government Services Group, Inc. (GSG), is a Florida-based consulting �rm
specializing in local, state and federal government services.

The GSG team doesn’t just o�er advice to governments. Our sta� has been at many di�erent levels
in government service so we understand the unique and ongoing challenges every government
faces. But, we’re private sector so we look for the places where each sector brings its unique
advantages to leverage services for communities.

We have served, 60 counties, 89 cities, 15 special districts and the Federal Government. We
currently serve 160 clients in the Southeast U.S.

We manage the Florida Governmental Utility Authority (FGUA). The FGUA provides water and
wastewater service to more than 120,000 utility customer connections throughout Florida. FGUA
holds a 50-year contract with the Department of Defense to manage water and wastewater services
for MacDill Air Force Base in Tampa, Florida.

SERVICES

WATER, WASTEWATER
UTILITY

MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL
MANAGEMENT
CONSULTING

     Home About Us Services Client Portal Contact Us

What’s News

https://weservegovernments.com/
https://weservegovernments.com/services/#water-wastewater-utility-management
https://weservegovernments.com/services/#financial-management-consulting
https://weservegovernments.com/
https://weservegovernments.com/about-us/
https://weservegovernments.com/services/
https://weservegovernments.com/client-portal/
https://weservegovernments.com/contact-us/
https://weservegovernments.com/whats-news/


11/26/2018 About Us | Government Services Group

https://weservegovernments.com/about-us/ 2/3

Yes. We Serve Government. It’s what we do.

GSG maintains 85 assessment databases, for 27 counties, 35 cities, and 7 special districts
consisting of 4.6 million records.

.

We have worked with over 100 �re departments in the state to develop alternatives for funding
�re services.

.

In Fiscal Year 2016-17, GSG supported the generation of $127.5 million in annual revenue by
assessing nearly 825 thousand parcels.

.

SPECIAL
ASSESSMENT AND

SUPPORT

INFORMATION
MANAGEMENT

SERVICES

https://weservegovernments.com/services/#financial-management-consulting
https://weservegovernments.com/services/#special-assessments-and-support
https://weservegovernments.com/services/#information-management


11/26/2018 About Us | Government Services Group

https://weservegovernments.com/about-us/ 3/3

GRANTS
MANAGEMENT

SERVICES

https://twitter.com/GSGgovserv
https://www.facebook.com/GSGgovserv/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/government-services-group/
https://weservegovernments.com/services/#information-management
https://weservegovernments.com/services/#grants-management-services


GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.A, ATTACHMENT 4 







GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.A, ATTACHMENT 5 



11/26/2018 District Management | Inframark

https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/ 1/4

DISTRICT MANAGEMENT

(https://inframarkims.com)

Pay My Bill (https://inframark.newfirstpayments.com/#/person/find-account/)Home
(https://inframarkims.com/)
Who We Are (/who-we-are/about-us)

About Us (https://inframarkims.com/who-we-are/about-us/)
Pure Partnership (https://inframarkims.com/who-we-are/pure-partnership/)
Leadership Team (https://inframarkims.com/who-we-are/leadership/)
Corporate Brochure (/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Inframark_IMS_Final_Website.pdf)

What We Do (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/)
Association Management (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/association-management/)
District Management (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/)
Municipal Services (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/municipal-services/)
Developer Services (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/developer-services/)

Request Proposal (https://inframarkims.com/request-proposal/)
Contact Us (https://inframarkims.com/contact-us/)

Search... 

https://inframarkims.com/
https://inframark.newfirstpayments.com/#/person/find-account/
https://inframarkims.com/
https://inframarkims.com/who-we-are/about-us
https://inframarkims.com/who-we-are/about-us/
https://inframarkims.com/who-we-are/pure-partnership/
https://inframarkims.com/who-we-are/leadership/
https://inframarkims.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Inframark_IMS_Final_Website.pdf
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/association-management/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/municipal-services/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/developer-services/
https://inframarkims.com/request-proposal/
https://inframarkims.com/contact-us/


11/26/2018 District Management | Inframark

https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/ 2/4

District Management

New district formation

Feasibility studies

Project administration

Systems analysis

Direction professional services

Customer relations

Records Management

Government due process compliance

Fiscal Management

Bond financing

Assessment methodologies

Investment management

Accounting services

Dissemination services

Treasury services

Assessment levy and collections

Capital improvement programs

Inframark Infrastructure Management Services (IMS) is the largest District Management firm in Florida specializing in providing the complete range of
management services required by Florida’s Special Districts, Improvement and Water Control Districts and Community Development Districts. We
understand that each District is unique in the level of services required for management and maintenance of its assets and community services. We
take a team approach to the management of all Districts. Instrumental in creating Florida’s Chapter 190 community development district legislation
in 1980, Inframark is responsible for establishing over half of Florida’s existing districts. Our district management team alone brings more than 200
years of collective experience to our clients and, because we operate as a single unit, all our clients benefit from this collective knowledge. We bring
Best Practices from over 85 Districts to your backyard!

Inframark’s wide range of experience includes forming new Districts and managing existing ones, and assisting with assessment and bond needs. We
also bring unparalleled expertise in local government and fiscal management. This full spectrum of services is unique to Inframark and allows our
clients to have consistent management services from the beginning of the project to completion of the development.

With more local o�ices in the state than any other district management services firm, our local management teams are closer to clients, and
therefore, are more responsive to the particular needs of each client. Our o�ices in St. Augustine, Tampa, Fort Myers, Orlando and Coral Springs are
sta�ed with highly experienced professionals that have the knowledge and resources to meet the needs of any District in the state, backed by a
regional support structure that brings our clients the benefits of a large organization with the responsiveness of a local firm.

Our District Management services include: 



11/26/2018 District Management | Inframark

https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/ 3/4

Public records law compliance

Environmental regulatory permit compliance

Public bidding law compliance

Financial law compliance

Clerking services

Transcribing meeting minutes

Public records requests

Codification

Special project management

Field Services

Recreation center management

Community maintenance

Activities planning

Landscape maintenance

Water and sewer utility services

Stormwater management systems

Employee administration

Vendor management

Florida Department of Revenue (http://floridarevenue.com/)

Florida Attorney General - Sunshine Law (http://www.myfloridalegal.com/)

Florida Statute Reference Website (http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/)

Association Management (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/association-management/)

District Management (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/)

Municipal Services (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/municipal-services/)

Developer Services (https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/developer-services/)

Links

  

http://floridarevenue.com/
http://www.myfloridalegal.com/
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/association-management/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/municipal-services/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/developer-services/
https://twitter.com/PurePartnership
https://www.facebook.com/PurePartnership/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/inframark/


11/26/2018 District Management | Inframark

https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/ 4/4

(https://twitter.com/PurePartnership)  (https://www.facebook.com/PurePartne (https://www.linkedin.com/

ABOUT US (HTTPS://INFRAMARKIMS.COM/WHO-WE-ARE/ABOUT-US/) ASSOCIATION MANAGEMENT (HTTPS://INFRAMARKIMS.COM/WHAT-WE-DO/ASSOCIATION-MANAGEMENT/)
DISTRICT MANAGEMENT (HTTPS://INFRAMARKIMS.COM/WHAT-WE-DO/DISTRICT-MANAGEMENT/)
MUNICIPAL SERVICES (HTTPS://INFRAMARKIMS.COM/WHAT-WE-DO/MUNICIPAL-SERVICES/)
DEVELOPER SERVICES (HTTPS://INFRAMARKIMS.COM/WHAT-WE-DO/DEVELOPER-SERVICES/) CONTACT US (HTTPS://INFRAMARKIMS.COM/CONTACT-US/)

COPYRIGHT © 2018, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED | PRIVACY (/PRIVACY-POLICY) | TERMS OF USE (/TERMS-OF-USE) WWW.INFRAMARK.COM (HTTP://WWW.INFRAMARK.COM)

https://twitter.com/PurePartnership
https://www.facebook.com/PurePartnership/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/inframark/
https://inframarkims.com/who-we-are/about-us/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/association-management/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/district-management/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/municipal-services/
https://inframarkims.com/what-we-do/developer-services/
https://inframarkims.com/contact-us/
https://inframarkims.com/privacy-policy
https://inframarkims.com/terms-of-use
http://www.inframark.com/


GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.A, ATTACHMENT 6 























GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.A, ATTACHMENT 7 



































GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.A, ATTACHMENT 8 













1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. B 

Update on Engineering Firm, Planning Firm, and Financial Management Firm 
RFQs. 

 
Executive Summary:  
 
This item provides the Board an update on outstanding RFQs issued for a planning firm, 
financial management firm, and engineering firm.  
 
Background:  
 
At the September 2018 Board meeting, the Board authorized the advertisement of 
RFQs for the above-listed consultant services. Initially, responses were due on 
November 14, 2018, however, the deadline was extended to November 28, 2018, 
following Hurricane Michael to allow additional time for responses. Responses to each 
of the RFQs were publicly opened by Washington County staff on November 28, 2018.  
 
The responses to each of the respective RFQs have been compiled and are attached to 
this Agenda Item for the Board’s review. The following firms have submitted responses: 
 
 Engineering Firms: 
 
  David H. Melvin, Inc. 
  Dewberry 
  Gortemoller Engineering Inc. 
 
 Planning Firms: 
 
  S & M E Inc. 
  Gortemoller Engineering Inc. 
  West Florida Regional Planning Council 
  HAS Consultilng 
 
 Financial Management Firms: 
 
  Plante & Moran, PLLC 
 
The schedule of events for the above-listed RFQs contemplated the Board ranking the 
proposals and posting an intent to award for each solicitation in either December 2018 
or January 2019.  Contract negotiations and the final award of the contracts were slated 
to take place between December 2018 and February 2019, with the anticipated 
beginning of work from January – March 2019.   
 



2 
 

The attached proposed “Ranking and Selection Schedule” (Attachment 1) has been 
created to implement this schedule and allow for the ranking and selection of the 
responsive firms.  If the Board desires oral presentations from the responsive firms, at 
least one additional Board meeting or workshop should be scheduled in early January, 
prior to the first scheduled regular Authority Board meeting on January 14, and the 
Board should direct Washington County staff to coordinate a presentation schedule with 
responsive firms. 
 
Options: 
 
Option #1.  Adopt the proposed Ranking and Selection Schedule contained in 
Attachment 1, subject to any Board revisions to same.  
 
Option #2.  Do not .  Adopt the proposed Ranking and Selection Schedule contained in 
Attachment 1. 
 
Option #3.  Board Direction.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
Option #1.   
 
Attachments: 
 
1. Ranking and Selection Schedule.  
 
2. Proposal Responses  
 
 

 



GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.B, ATTACHMENT 1 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. B, Attachment 1 

 
Ranking and Selection Schedule for RFQs for Engineering Firm, Planning 

Firm, and Financial Management Firm 
 
December 10, 2018, Authority Board Meeting – Initial evaluation of proposals and 
Board discussion of same.   
 
January 14, 2019, Authority Board Meeting – Final scoring and ranking of 
responses to each of the 3 RFQs.  Authorize posting of intent to award and 
authorize the Chairman (or other member of the Board) and Washington County 
staff to assist as needed in negotiation of Contracts with the Authority General 
Counsel.  
 
January 15 – February 4, 2019 – Negotiation of contracts with selected firms.   
 
February 11, 2019, Authority Board Meeting – Final approval of awards by the 
Authority and execution of contracts with selected firms. Option to begin issuing 
notices to proceed to selected firms to begin work.   
 
 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. C 

Update on Existing Grant Agreements  
 

Executive Summary:  
 
This item provides the Board an update on outstanding grant agreements related to the 
Authority and its mission.     
 
Background:  
 
Previously, Opportunity Florida, on behalf of the Authority (which had not yet been 
created), entered into a $100,000 grant agreement with the Florida Department of 
Transportation (FDOT) (the “FDOT Grant”) to provide funds earmarked for certain start-
up tasks associated with the formation of the Authority, including legal costs related to 
the preparation of founding documents and policies (such as the interlocal agreement 
creating the Authority, the Authority Bylaws and Purchasing Policy), and other tasks 
related to the “standing up” of the Authority.  
 
While the majority of the tasks identified in the FDOT Grant have been accomplished, 
several remain outstanding including: task #5 related to the formation of Authority 
Comprehensive Plan, Land Development Code, FLUM amendments, and related land 
development regulations conducive to the Authority’s goals and objectives, and task #6 
establishing the interlocal relationships for revenue/revenue sharing between the 
member governments to fund the Authority. These tasks require additional time for 
completion and/or the procurement of consultant services. As a result, they cannot be 
accomplished prior to the current grant deadline of December 31, 2018.  
 
General Counsel to the Authority has corresponded with FDOT regarding this issue, 
and FDOT appears amenable to permitting an extension of the grant agreement to 
allow for the completion of these outstanding tasks. However, FDOT has also indicated 
that such request for extension must come from Opportunity Florida (the grantee) and 
the grant may not be assigned to the Authority nor rolled into the remaining $900,000 
appropriation that is earmarked for the construction phase of the project. At the time of 
this writing, Opportunity Florida staff is in the process of securing a one (1) year 
extension of this grant from FDOT. Additional follow-up on this item will be provided at 
the Board’s January meeting.  
 
In addition to the outstanding FDOT Grant, there is also an outstanding grant 
agreement between DEO and Washington County (on behalf of the Authority) in the 
amount of $1,821,416 (the “DEO Grant”). The DEO Grant requires completion of the 
project (construction of the water/sewer infrastructure) by February 15, 2023. Section 14 
of the DEO Grant allows for assignment of the grant agreement with the prior written 
consent of DEO. General Counsel to the Authority has reached out to DEO to inquire 



2 
 

whether it would be amenable to having the grant assigned to the Authority and an 
update will be provided to the Board at the January meeting on the status of this 
request.   
 
Options: 
 
No action is required at this time.   
 

 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. D 

Discussion of Authority Budget and Revenue Sources 
 
Executive Summary:  
 
This item is intended to facilitate general Board discussion on the preparation of the 
Authority’s annual budget as well as general discussion of Authority revenue sources. 
Additionally, it seeks Board direction concerning the preparation of a Financial 
Feasibility Analysis/Revenue Validation Study and potential interlocals for revenue 
sharing with Member governments, as further discussed in the Highway 79 Corridor 
Authority Activation Plan presented to the Board at the September 2018 meeting.  
 
Background:  
 
1.  Authority Budget 
 
Pursuant to general law, the Authority must annually adopt a budget each fiscal year, 
including for the current 2019 fiscal year. As discussed at the September 2018 meeting, 
the Board intended to defer preparation of the annual budget until it could be prepared 
as soon as possible after October 1. However, given the lack of responses to the 
solicitation for the General Manager position, the Board should consider when adoption 
of the Authority budget will occur and who will be responsible for preparation of such 
budget.  
 
2.  Authority Revenue Sources 
 
At the September 2018 Board meeting, the Board was presented with the Highway 79 
Corridor Authority Activation Plan (Attachment 1), which contained a detailed analysis of 
the steps involved in creating the Authority as well as information related to the 
Authority’s financial feasibility and revenue generation projections. Much of the financial 
information contained therein is based on assumptions and projections developed by 
the Highway 79 Corridor Planning Committee (“Planning Committee”).  
 
As discussed in the Activation Plan, it is suggested that the Authority engage a suitably 
qualified professional to perform a Financial Feasibility Analysis and/or Revenue 
Validation Study to verify and revise, as needed, the financial projections prepared by 
the Planning Committee to ensure sufficient resources are in place to meet the 
Authority’s operations and infrastructure requirements. The Activation Plan further 
contemplates the Authority entering into revenue sharing agreements with the 3 
member governments. Once the Financial Feasibility Analysis has been performed, 
such revenue sharing agreements can be drafted and entered into between the 
Authority and the member governments.  
 



2 
 

As an alternative to conducting the Financial Feasibility Analysis at this time, the Board 
may wish to delay this step for the time being and instead seek to enter into agreements 
with the member governments to provide for the sharing of ad valorem or other legally 
available revenues until such time as the Authority is fully stood up and has other 
available revenue sources.  While it should be noted that the City of Bonifay has no ad 
valorem tax revenue, the City may have other available revenues or could provide 
space to the Authority or provide other in-kind services in lieu of a direct monetary 
contribution. The specifics of these agreements would be negotiated by the Authority 
directly with the member governments.   
 
Options: 
 
The Board should consider taking action to expedite the preparation of an annual 
budget for FY 2019.  
 
It is important to note that the Authority currently has no funds available to it other than 
the $100,000 in FDOT grant funds that are restricted to legal services and other 
specifically defined “start-up” tasks outlined in the grant agreement. In order to have 
cash on hand to pay employees (General Manager and Executive Assistant) and/or 
professional consultants that may not be reimbursable under the FDOT grant, the Board 
should pursue options to raise additional cash in the interim, including potentially 
through revenue sharing agreements with the three member governments.  
 
Additionally, the Board should consider the potential implementation of options 
contained in the Activation Plan, including the procurement of a professional consultant 
capable of performing a Financial Feasibility Analysis/Revenue Validation Study. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Authorize the Authority’s General Counsel in conjunction with the Chairman or such 
other Director to negotiate revenue sharing agreements with the three member counties 
to be brought back to the Board for consideration.   
 
Attachments: 
 
1. Highway 79 Corridor Authority Activation Plan 

 



GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.D, ATTACHMENT 1 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority Activation Playbook 
 

Activation Steps and Preliminary Schedule 
 
Step 1 - Adoption of Interlocal Agreement establishing the Highway 79 

Corridor Authority –  
 

Summary -  See Tab 1. for details 
 

The Interlocal Agreement Relating to Establishment of the Highway 79 Corridor 
Authority is attached for review and adoption.   
 
 Pursuant to Section 163.01(7), Florida Statutes, after adoption by the three “member 
governments” – City of Bonifay, Holmes County, and Washington County -- ILA 2 creates a 
separate legal entity and public body to jointly exercise the common powers for economic 
development of the Corridor Area and the provision of water, reclaimed, wastewater services 
and facilities within that area. 
 
 Article I contains definitions. 
 
 Article II creates the Authority, outlines the purposes of the Authority, and provides for 
the authority members, and duration of the Authority. 
 
 Article III designates the member governments and provides for potential future 
members, establishes the board of directors and their terms and conditions of service, and 
outlines other processes for Authority business. 
 
 Article IV outlines the powers granted to the Authority by the member governments.  
These generally include (i) economic development activities; (ii) the provision of potable water, 
reclaimed water, and wastewater services and facilities; (iii) the levy of fees, assessments, and 
other charges for the use of the services, facilities, and products of the Authority; (iv) ability to 
contract, own and dispose of property, adopt rules and regulations, receive grants and issue 
debt; (v) the ability to create advisory boards and committees; (vi) to sue and be sued in the 
Authority’s name; (vii) to maintain an office; (viii) to impose special assessments with authority 
member approval; (ix) to invest Authority funds, (x) provide assistance with land development 
approvals, permitting, facility extensions, and other activities designed to promote and 
facilitate the development of the corridor area; and (xi) to do “all acts and to exercise all of the 
powers necessary, convenient, incidental, implied or proper in connection with any of the 
powers, duties or purposes authorized by this lnterlocal Agreement or the Act.” 
 
 Article IV also covers the acquisition of the utility facilities by the member governments, 
budgeting, and adoption of rules and regulations and rates, fees, or other charges by the 
Authority for the future use of its services, facilities, and products. Article IV authorizes the 



2 
 

Authority to issue future debt if needed and provides that the Authority and individual member 
governments may enter into future revenue sharing agreements.  These agreements will be 
discussed in more detail below.  It is important to note that the Authority is a separate legal 
entity.  Accordingly, any debt undertaken by the Authority is not debt of any of the member 
governments.  No holder of any such debt shall ever have the right to compel any exercise of 
the ad valorem taxing power on the part of any of the member governments to pay any debt or 
the interest thereon or the right to enforce payment of such debt or the interest thereon, 
against any property of the Authority or any of the member governments, nor shall such debt 
constitute a charge, lien or encumbrance, legal or equitable, upon any property of the Authority 
or any of the member governments, except the Authority’s Pledged Funds in accordance with 
the terms of the Financing Documents. 
 

Article V covers miscellaneous items, including filing, governmental immunity, 
amendments, declaration of no delegation of authority, and a provision stating that no member 
government shall in any manner be obligated to pay any debts, obligations or liabilities arising 
as a result of any actions of the Authority, the Directors or any other agents, employees, 
officers or officials of the Authority, except to the extent otherwise mutually agreed upon, and 
neither the Authority, the Directors or any other agents, employees, officers or officials of the 
Authority have any authority or power to otherwise obligate any individual member 
government in any manner. 
 

Timing & Actions –   
 

Corridor Committee review in May 2018 
 
Adoption by each member government in June-July 2018 

 
Appointment of each members’ directors to serve on the Authority by resolution 

adopted at the same meeting in June-July 2018 
 

Filing (not recording) with Clerk of Court in each County in June-July 2018 
 

Step 2 - Initial Corridor Authority Organizational Meeting  
 
 Summary – Pursuant to ILA 2, the Authority is to hold an initial organizational meeting 
within 45 days of its creation.  In order to keep moving matters forward, the following action 
items should be on the agenda: 
 
   Election of Officers 
   Adoption of Meeting By-laws 
   Adoption of partial year budget 
   Adoption of Procurement Policy 
   Adoption of Employment Agreement with General Manager 



3 
 

Approval of awards and adoption of contracts with professional service 
providers (if solicitation processes are concluded)  

Assignment of grants and other agreements to the Authority 
Discussion on solicitation for financial feasibility consultant 
Adoption of meeting schedule for remainder of 2018 
 

See Tab 2 for details and refer to Step 3 below 
 

Timing & Actions –   
  
Meeting to be held within 45 days of the creation of Authority 

 
Budget public hearing noticed once a week for two consecutive weeks thirty 

(30) days in advance 
 

Meeting noticed at least 7 days in advance 
 

July 2018 with date and time to be coordinated with members of the Authority 
Board of Directors 

 
Step 3 - Engagement of Professional Service Providers 
 
 Summary - See Tab 3. for details 
 
 Timing & Actions --  
 

Manager – The role of the general manager will be to attend to all Authority 
operations. The Board should consider naming the manager the Authority Secretary for 
official purposes. The position has been advertised and applications have been received.  
Interviews will be conducted in April. The manager will initially be retained by 
Washington County, but the formal hiring by the Authority will occur in or about July 
2018. 

    
Engineers – The CCNA solicitation documents have been finalized and will be 

released by the Authority after activation. 
      

Planner – The solicitation documents have been finalized and will be released by 
the Authority after activation. 

      
CPA -- The solicitation documents have been finalized and will be released by 

the Authority after activation. Once engaged, the Board should consider naming the CPA 
the Authority Treasurer for official purposes. 

      



4 
 

Financial Feasibility Consultant – Prior to commitments on revenue sharing 
agreements between the Authority and the member governments, the revenue 
projections included in the Authority’s latest budget projection should be reviewed, 
validated, or revised by an outside consultant. See Step 4 below. 

 
Step 4 - Financial Feasibility Analysis & Revenue Sharing Agreements 
 
 Summary - The Committee’s budget projection has been prepared as an illustration 
through FY 2028 and contains assumptions regarding revenue sharing with the Authority.  Such 
projections necessarily rely on numerous assumptions, such as growth within the Corridor Area 
and future budgeted costs.  It is recommended that the Authority engage a suitably qualified 
professional to verify and revise, as needed, these long-term projections to ensure sufficient 
resources to meet the Authority’s operations and infrastructure requirements. For example, on 
the expense side, depending on decisions relating to ownership and operations, there may be 
additional Authority costs, such as operations, maintenance, billing, customer service, and 
lateral extensions of utility infrastructure.  Similarly, on the revenue side, there are several 
items that should be reviewed, verified, and more fully defined prior to the Authority and the 
member governments entering into Revenue Sharing Agreements for all identified revenue 
sources.  With the continued understanding that the member governments will receive 90% 
and the Authority will receive 10% of revenues generated by new development within the 
Corridor Area, in lieu of direct revenue sharing from certain legally restricted revenue sources, 
it may be necessary to calculate and provide for payment of an equivalent amount to the 
Authority from other legally available revenue sources.  
 
 Timing & Actions – 
 
 RFP for Consultant for Financial Feasibility Analysis1 –  Release September, 2018 
          Award November, 2018 
 
 Completion of Financial Feasibility Analysis -  January, 2019 
 
 Revenue Sharing Agreement(s) -    See below by revenue line 
 
 A. Tax Increment Financing – the budget projection contains this revenue line, but 
does not set forth any “financing” assumptions.  If Authority debt is required, it may be possible 
to work out an arrangement where the counties pledge a portion of the ad valorem increment 
to payment of that debt, but the parameters at this time are unknown so these revenues 
should not be relied on at this time. The budget projection also contains another line for Ad 
Valorem within the District, as discussed in B. below.  These appear to be the same revenue 
source and the Authority should ensure it’s not double counting these revenues before 
finalizing any Revenue Sharing Agreement or debt instruments involving Tax Increment 

                                                           
1 The same consultant can also perform the Authority’s rate study as outlined in Step 5 below. 



5 
 

Financing. The revenue analysis should verify the appropriate inclusion of these revenues and 
projections. 
 

B. Ad Valorem Tax Increment -  in addition to the Tax Increment Financing 
mentioned above, the budget projection also provides for the member governments to share 
10% of the ad valorem revenues generated within the Corridor Area with the Authority. For this 
revenue line, the county member governments will both create a Tax Increment District within 
the Corridor Area by adoption of a local ordinance.  A sample ordinance has previously been 
provided and is included in Tab 4.   

 
A tax increment district uses the increase in tax revenue in a designated geographic area 

to fund designated activities.  The counties will initially designate an area from which the 
increment will be taken, known as the tax increment district.  After the counties have selected 
the tax increment district they then establish a base year, which is normally the year in which 
the district is established.  The counties then determine the aggregate tax value of all of the 
property in the district, often referred to as the frozen tax base.  As the tax revenues increase 
over this established aggregate value, the amount by which the tax revenue exceeds the 
established aggregate value is the tax increment.   

 
A designated portion of the tax increment is then deposited in a special trust fund to be 

used only for designated purposes, which in the present case, would be transferred to the 
Authority by operation of the Revenue Sharing Agreement.   These revenues would be available 
to the Authority to be used for any Authority purpose as provided in the agreement. 

 
The revenue analysis should verify the revenue projections for future years. The time 

period for revenue sharing also needs to be negotiated between the Authority and the counties 
prior to finalization of the Revenue Sharing Agreement; however, if desired an agreement for 
sharing these ad valorem revenues can be accomplished in the following time frame: 

 
Counties Adopt Tax Increment District Ordinance  July-August 2018 
 
Drafting of Revenue Sharing Agreement for Ad Valorem  September 2018 
 
Approval of Revenue Sharing Agreement for Ad Valorem July November 2018 

 
 C. Impact Fees – the budget projection contains an assumption that 10% of the 
impact fees generated within the Corridor Area will be provided to the Authority and 90% will 
remain with the applicable member government.    
 
 Impact Fees are regulatory fees paid by new development at the time of permitting to 
pay for the growth-related capital, capacity needed to serve that new development.  Impact 
fees are legally restricted and must be held in a trust account and utilized to provide the 
capacity for which they were charged. They must be expended within a reasonable time to 



6 
 

provide the noted capacity improvements or risk being refunded to the fee payers. Impact fees 
cannot be used to fund Authority operations.  
 
 It wouldn’t be advisable for impact fees to be shared between the Authority and its 
member governments unless there is a clearly defined plan for the expenditure of those 
revenues to provide the capital, capacity improvements for which they were imposed within 
the required time period.  Additionally, in the event the Authority retains ownership of the 
utility facilities, it will be charging capacity impact fees for connections.  100% of these fees will 
need to remain with the Authority since they are the entity providing the utility capacity.  Any 
capacity impact fees for plant capacity would be a 100% pass-through to the entity provider 
treatment plant capacity, the City of Bonifay. 
 
 The revenue analysis should verify the appropriate inclusion of these revenues and 
projections prior to finalizing a Revenue Sharing Agreement.  Most likely, any Revenue Sharing 
Agreement covering a specific transfer of Impact Fee funds to the Authority will only be 
pursued once a specific project is identified.  
 

Drafting of Revenue Sharing Agreement for Impact Fees  TBD 
 
Approval of Revenue Sharing Agreement for Impact Fees  TBD 

 
 
D. Local Option Sales Tax (§212.055, F.S.) – the budget projection contains an 

assumption that 10% of sales taxes generated within the Corridor Area will be provided to the 
Authority.  The county member governments both levy a 1% local option Small County Surtax.   

 
Holmes County’s surtax expires on December 31, 2028 and was imposed to fund 

operations of any infrastructure as provided in Section 212.055(3), Florida Statutes. There were 
no additional authorized public purposes for use of the sales tax monies in the Holmes County 
ordinance. See Holmes County Ordinance 13-01. The estimated FY2018 revenues to Holmes 
County are $969,312. 

 
Washington County’s surtax expires upon repeal by vote of the Board of County 

Commissioners and was imposed to fund general operations. See Washington County 
Ordinance 93-9. The estimated FY2018 revenues to Washington County are $1,656,828. 

 
Once shared with the Authority, the Authority would agree to use these revenues for 

the same legal, purposes as the member counties. These revenues would not be available to 
fund Authority general operations costs and would only be available to fund costs associated 
with operations of infrastructure. The current proforma budget projection indicates that each 
county would agree to transfer to the Authority 10% of the local option sales tax revenues 
generated within the Corridor Area. DOR tax payer information is generally confidential and not 
made available to the public so it will likely be difficult or impossible to precisely quantify the 
sales taxes generated within the Corridor Area.  If this information is not available a different 



7 
 

means of determining an equitable split will need to be determined. The time period for 
revenue sharing also needs to be negotiated and verified between the Authority and the 
counties prior to entering into a revenue sharing agreement. 
 

The revenue analysis should verify the amounts, the time periods, the authorized uses, 
and the method of quantifying any sales tax revenue sharing or sharing of an equivalent 
amount of general revenues or another legally available revenue source.   

 
Drafting of Revenue Sharing Agreement for Sales Tax January 2019 
 
Approval of Revenue Sharing Agreement for Sales Tax February 2019 
 
E. Local Option Fuel Tax - the budget projection contains an assumption that 10% 

of local option motor fuel taxes generated within the Corridor Area will be provided to the 
Authority.  The county member governments both levy 7 cents of local option motor fuel taxes: 
(i) the “Ninth Cent” pursuant to Section 336.021, Florida Statutes, and (ii) the “Original Six 
Cents” pursuant to Section 336.025(1)(a), Florida Statutes.    Neither County imposes the 
additional 5 cents of motor fuel taxes authorized by Section 336.025(1)(b), Florida Statutes and 
that might be implemented in jurisdictions within the Corridor Area. 

 
Holmes County’s estimated revenues for FY 2018 are as follows:  
 

$110,338 – Ninth Cent 
$534,052 – Original Six Cents 

  
Washington County’s estimated revenues for FY 2018 are as follows: 
 
  $141,666 – Ninth Cent 
  $683,010 – Original Six Cents 
 
The revenues from these gas taxes are legally restricted and must be used for 

“transportation expenditures” as defined in Section 336.025(7), Florida Statutes. Transportation 
expenditures are defined to include those expenditures by the local government from local or 
state-shared revenue sources, excluding expenditures of bond proceeds, for the following 
programs: 
 

1. Public transportation operations and maintenance. 
 
2. Roadway and right-of-way maintenance and equipment and structures used primarily 

for the storage and maintenance of such equipment. 
 
3. Roadway and right-of-way drainage. 

 
4. Street lighting installation, operation, maintenance, and repair. 



8 
 

 
5. Traffic signs, traffic engineering, signalization, and pavement markings installation, 

operation, maintenance, and repair. 
 
6. Bridge maintenance and operation. 
 
7. Debt service and current expenditures for transportation capital projects in the 

foregoing program areas, including construction or reconstruction of roads and 
sidewalks. 

 
For the Original Six Cents proceeds, a “small county,” which includes both Holmes and 

Washington counties, may use the funds for non-transportation infrastructure projects if it 
certifies that all transportation needs in its Comprehensive Plan are met.   
   

Once shared with the Authority, the Authority would agree to use these revenues for 
the same legal, purposes as the member counties. These revenues would not be available to 
fund Authority operations costs. Given that the Authority is not expected to be immediately 
undertaking any transportation-related responsibilities, it may be difficult for the Authority to 
legally expend such funds, in which case, the parties may elect to transfer general revenues to 
the Authority in an amount equal to the 10% motor fuel tax projections. The current proforma 
budget projection indicates that each county would agree to transfer to the Authority 10% of 
the local option motor fuel tax revenues generated within the Corridor Area. DOR tax payer 
information is generally confidential and not made available to the public so it will likely be 
difficult or impossible to precisely quantify the sales taxes generated within the Corridor Area.  
If this information is not available a different means of determining an equitable split will need 
to be determined. The time period for revenue sharing also needs to be negotiated and verified 
between the Authority and the member governments prior to entering into a revenue sharing 
agreement. 
 

The revenue analysis should verify the amounts, the time periods, the authorized uses, 
and the method of quantifying any motor fuel tax revenue sharing or sharing of an equivalent 
amount of general revenues or another legally available revenue source.   

 
Drafting of Revenue Sharing Agreement for Fuel  January 2019 
 
Approval of Revenue Sharing Agreement for Fuel Tax February 2019 
 

 
Step 5 -  Other Necessary Actions 
 
 
 A. Optional Bulk Water and Wastewater Service Agreement between the 
Authority and the City of Bonifay.  This agreement would be negotiated and approved prior to 
the placement of the new Authority utility facilities in service in the event the Authority utility 



9 
 

facilities are not transferred to City ownership.  This agreement will cover the placement of a 
master meter, meter reading, bulk usage rates, capacity fees, and other relevant provisions 
governing the relationship between the City and the Authority. 
 
 Timing & Actions –  
 
 Negotiate Terms with City     Sept.-Nov. 2018  
 
 Approval of Bulk Agreement     Dec. 2018-Jan. 2019 
 
 B. Optional Utility Operations, Billing, and Customer Service Agreement between 
the Authority and a TBD Vendor. In the event the Authority retains the Authority utility 
facilities, it will need to engage either the City or a vendor to provide operations, billing, and 
customer services functions for future customer accounts serviced by the Authority. 
 
 Timing & Actions –  
 
 If contract with City: 
 Negotiate Terms with City     Sept.-Nov. 2018 
 
 Approval of Service Agreement    Dec. 2018-Jan. 2019 
  

Commence Services      TBD 
 
 If contract with private provider: 
 Develop RFP       July – Sept. 2018 
  

Issue RFP       October 2018 
  

Award Contract      February 2019 
  

Commence Services      TBD 
 
 C. Amendments to Members’ LDCs – as currently envisioned, the Authority will 
formulate Corridor Area development standards that will be applicable for all future 
development within the Area, including mandatory connection to the Authority’s water and 
wastewater utility facilities.  Additionally, the Authority will perform a technical review of all 
development applications within the Corridor Area to ensure conformity with these adopted 
standards.  To make these standards and the Authority’s technical review role legally binding on 
new development, each member government will need to prepare and process appropriate 
amendments to their land development codes. 
 



10 
 

 Timing & Actions –  
 
 Development of Authority Standards   Sept. – Nov. 2018 
 
 Approval by Authority      Dec. 2018-Jan. 2019 
 
 Development of LDC Amendments    Jan. – Feb. 2019 
 
 Adoption of LDC Amendments    TBD  
 

D. Authority Rate Study – as currently envisioned, the Authority will be initially 
providing water and sewer utility services and also development review services.  Pursuant to 
Section 4.04 of ILA 2, the Authority will need to conduct a rate study to determine legally 
supportable rates for the various services, facilities, and products that it will provide to the 
public and then adopt a rate resolution. 
 
 Timing & Actions – 
 
 Conduct Rate Study      Dec. 2018-Feb. 2019 
 
 Advertise Hearing 20 days in advance   March 2019 
 
 Adopt Rate Resolution     April 2019   
    
 
 E. Authority Budget – in accordance with Section 4.03 of ILA 2, the Authority will 
need to prepare and adopt both a partial year budget for the remaining portions of the current 
Fiscal Year and a budget for FY 2019.  
 
 Timing & Actions – 
 
 Prepare Partial Year Budget     July 2018 
 
 Notice Hearing per 4.03 of ILA 2    July 2018 
 
 Adopt Partial Year Budget     August 2018 
 
 Prepare FY 2019 Budget     by July –Aug. 2018 
 
 Adopt Tentative Budget     Aug. 2018  
 

Notice Hearing per 4.03 of ILA 2    Aug. 2018 
 
Adopt FY 2019 Budget     Sept. 2018 



11 
 

 
F. External Auditor – the Authority will need to procure and engage an 

independent external auditor for annual audit functions. 
 
Timing & Actions – 
 
Develop RFP       July – Sept. 2018 

  
Issue RFP       October 2018 

  
Award Contract      Dec. 2019 

  
Commence Services      Dec. 2018 – Jan. 2019 
 
 

 
 
 



1 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. E 

“Phase Two” Grant Agreement between the Authority for Design and 
Construction of Water and Wastewater Improvements. 

 
Executive Summary:  
 
This item requests Board authorization to pursue a “phase two” grant agreement 
between Authority and FDOT covering an estimated $900,000 of legislatively 
appropriated funds for design and construction of water and wastewater improvements. 
 
Background:  
 
Previously, the legislature appropriated a total of $1,000,000 to FDOT earmarked for the 
design and construction of water and wastewater improvements within the Highway 79 
Corridor area. As discussed in Agenda Item V. C., $100,000 has already been made 
available for costs related to the start-up of the Authority through a grant between 
Opportunity Florida and FDOT.  
 
General Counsel for the Authority has been in contact with FDOT which has expressed 
willingness to begin preparation of a grant agreement covering “phase two” of the 
project related to the actual design, construction, and installation of the water and 
wastewater facilities within the area comprising the Authority.     
 
Options: 
 
Option #1.  Authorize Authority staff to pursue preparation of a grant agreement 
between the Authority and FDOT covering the remaining $900,000 of legislatively 
appropriated funds earmarked for design and construction of water and wastewater 
improvements. 
 
Option #2.  Do not Authorize Authority staff to pursue preparation of a grant agreement 
between the Authority and FDOT covering the remaining $900,000 of legislatively 
appropriated funds earmarked for design and construction of water and wastewater 
improvements. 
 
Option #3.  Board direction.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
Option #1.  
 



2 

Attachments: 
 
None.  



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. F 

Request Board Authorization to Register the Authority as a Special District with 
DEO 

 
Executive Summary:  
 
This item requests Board authorization to register the Authority as a special district with 
DEO and complete all filings and pay the annual special district fees associated with 
same.    
 
Background:  
 
Filing as Special District with DEO 
 
As a unit of local government created pursuant to general law for a special purpose (as 
opposed to a general purpose) with jurisdiction to operate within a limited geographic 
boundary, it appears that the Authority may satisfy the definition of a “special district,” 
pursuant to section 189.012(6), F.S.1  As a result, the Authority is required to comply 
with legal requirements pertaining to special districts, including filing and reporting 
requirements.  
 
Specifically, the Authority must notify the DEO Special District Accountability Program 
(via email) of the Authority’s existence through provision of the following documents and 
materials: 
 

1. The Authority’s creation document (interlocal agreement). 
2. A written status statement that includes a reference to the status of the special 

district as dependent or independent and the basis for such classification (the 
Authority is an independent special district).  

3. A map of the Authority clearly showing the following, if applicable: 
a. The special district's boundaries. 
b. Municipal boundaries, if any, crossing the special district's boundaries. 
c. County lines, if the special district is in more than one county. 

4. The registered agent's name, address, telephone, fax and email.  
 
Within 30 days of receiving these documents, DEO will do the following: 

1. Review the creation documents to verify the special district's dependent or 
independent status. 

2. Add the special district to the Official List of Special Districts Online. 
3. Notify the Authority and the local general-purpose governments of the status 

determination. 

                                            
1 It should be noted that the State no longer has a process pursuant to which an entity can request an 
official determination whether or not it meets the statutory definition of a special district.  



2 
 

4. Send the Annual Special District Fee Invoice and Update Form to the Special 
District. 

 
The annual special district fee is $175. Additionally, the Authority will be responsible for 
a prorated fee based on its creation between July 1 and September 30 of $75, for a total 
of $250.  
 
Options: 
 
Option #1.  Direct the transmittal of the documents and materials to DEO required by 
law for the Authority to register as a new independent special district and pay the annual 
special district fee upon invoice from DEO.  
 
Option #2.  Do not direct the transmittal of the documents and materials to DEO 
required by law for the Authority to register as a new independent special district and do 
not pay the annual special district fee upon invoice from DEO. 
 
Option #3.  Board direction.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
Option #1 
 
Attachment: 
 
1. Information from the DEO Special District Accountability Program website regarding 
newly created special districts.  
 

 



GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.F, ATTACHMENT 1 



11/26/2018 About the Special District Accountability Program - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/about-the-special-district-accountability-pr… 1/3

Search this site...  ESPAÑOL  | KREYÒL

About the Special District Accountability Program

Home > Community Planning, Development and Services > Special Districts > Special District Accountability Program > Florida Special District Handbook Online > About the Special District Accountability Program

Community Planning

Community Services

Community Development
Block Grants

Rural Community
Programs

Special Districts

Special District
Accountability Program

Official List of Special
Districts Online
Florida Special District
Handbook Online
Special District
Accountability and
Oversight
Common Issues
Regarding Special
Districts
Special District
Resources and Contacts
Special District
Noncompliance Status
Reports

Military Community
Programs

www.FloridaJobs.org/SDAP

Special districts serve a necessary and useful purpose by providing services to residents, businesses and property. They generate billions in revenue for Florida's
economy, create private-sector jobs and have a substantial impact on the lives of every Floridian. Special districts are held accountable through Chapter 189,
Florida Statutes - the Uniform Special District Accountability Act  (Act). This Act requires special districts to register with the Florida Department of Economic
Opportunity (DEO) and report financial and other activities to the public, the appropriate local general-purpose governments and state agencies. Failure of a
special district to comply with the Act's minimum disclosure requirements may result in action against the special district. As the administrator of the Act and an
important component of the Local Government Financial Reporting System, DEO is charged with the following responsibilities through its Special District
Accountability Program.

Program's Responsibilities

Maintaining the Official List of Special Districts
The Act, along with Chapter 73C-24, Florida Administrative Code - Special District Accountability Program , requires each special district to maintain specific
information with the program. The program publishes information about special districts through the Official List of Special Districts Online  (official list). The
Florida Legislature, state agencies and local government officials depend on this information to monitor special districts, coordinate activities, collect and compile
financial and other information and make informed policy decisions. As an example, the Florida Department of Financial Services uses the official list to verify that
all active special districts disclose their annual revenues, expenditures and debt by filing the Annual Financial Report. The Florida Auditor General uses the official
list along with the financial information from the Florida Department of Financial Services to ensure that all special districts meeting the financial threshold are
providing for a financial audit and filing the Annual Financial Audit Report with the Florida Auditor General. For more information about the users and purposes of
the official list, please see About the Official List of Special Districts Online – Purposes . 

The official list allows users to access data through summary reports and, by selecting variables of interest, customize reports. Available information includes the
special district's official name, its registered agent and registered office, its independent or dependent status, its special purpose, the county or counties in which it
has territory and its official web address. For a complete list of the information available, please see About the Official List of Special Districts Online – Data
Categories .

The program ensures that the dependent and independent status of each special district is correct. If the status of a special district on the official list is inconsistent
with the status submitted by the special district, the special district may request DEO to issue a declaratory statement setting forth the requirements necessary to
resolve the inconsistency. If necessary, upon issuance of a declaratory statement by DEO that is not appealed pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes -
Administrative Procedure Act , the governing body of the special district must apply to the entity that originally established the special district for an amendment
to its charter correcting the specified defects in its original charter.

The program declares special districts inactive when directed by the Joint Legislative Auditing Committee or when required by the Act (see Dissolving Dependent
and Independent Special Districts Through a Declaration of Inactive Status) and removes those special districts from the official list and lists them separately.

If an entity is attempting to file an Annual Financial Report with the Florida Department of Financial Services and / or filing an Annual Financial Audit Report with
the Florida Auditor General and identifying itself as a special district, but is not listed as a special district on the official list, the program must determine whether the
entity is a special district. If so, the program notifies the entity that it must register with the program as a special district. The Florida Auditor General may also refer
entities to the program for further research if the entity is associated with a statutory authority that is already well established with special districts and / or has a
name or special-purpose already well established with special districts.

Since the program continuously collects, classifies and maintains constantly changing information about Florida's special districts and is in direct contact with
special district personnel, the program is often the first to learn about changes that other state agencies need to know about, sometimes very quickly. The program
works closely with state agencies to make sure vital information is timely provided to the appropriate parties.

Providing Technical Advisory Assistance to Special Districts
The program provides technical advisory assistance to special districts regarding the requirements of the Act, primarily through telephone calls and email
correspondences. When appropriate, the program provides referrals to other agencies (see Special District Resources and Contacts). The program may contract

Handbook Quick
Links

1. Handbook Topics

2. Subject Index

3. Reporting
Requirements By D
Date

4. Reporting
Requirements By
Agency and Agenc
Contacts

Reemployment Assistance
 Service Center

Business Growth
 & Partnerships

Workforce Statistics Community Planning,
 Development & Services

 

Workforce Development
 Board Resources

 

http://www.floridajobs.org/
https://connect.myflorida.com/Claimant/Core/Login.ASPX
https://connect.myflorida.com/Employer/Core/Login.ASPX
http://www.facebook.com/pages/Florida-Department-of-Economic-Opportunity/146985918727193
http://twitter.com/FLDEO
https://www.linkedin.com/company/fldeo/
http://www.floridajobs.org/job-seekers-community-services/unemployment-compensation-benefits-center/centro-de-beneficios-de-compensaci%C3%B3n-por-desempleo-(spanish)/presente-una-reclamaci%C3%B3n
http://www.floridajobs.org/job-seekers-community-services/unemployment-compensation-benefits-center/sant-avantaj-konpansasyon-pou-chomaj-(haitian-creole)/f%C3%A8-yon-demann
http://www.floridajobs.org/
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program
http://specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/special-district-accountability-and-oversight
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/common-issues-regarding-special-districts
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/special-district-resources-and-contacts
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/special-district-noncompliance-status-reports
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0189/0189ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20189
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/accountability-overview#System
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=73C-24
http://specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/the-annual-financial-report
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/the-annual-financial-audit-report
http://specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/webreports/about.aspx#Purposes
http://specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/webreports/about.aspx#Data
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0120/0120ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20120
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/dissolving-special-districts#Inactive
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/special-district-resources-and-contacts
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/subject-index
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-due-date
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-agency-and-agency-contacts
http://www.floridajobs.org/job-seekers
http://www.floridajobs.org/business-growth-and-partnerships
http://www.floridajobs.org/workforce-statistics/workforce-statistics-data-releases/latest-statistics
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development
http://www.myflfamilies.com/service-programs/human-trafficking%20
http://www.floridajobs.org/workforce-professionals


11/26/2018 About the Special District Accountability Program - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/about-the-special-district-accountability-pr… 2/3

© 2018 State of Florida 
 Department of Economic

Opportunity

About Us Home Calendar Contact Us FAQs Help Center News Office DReemployment
Assistance Service

Center

Business Growth &
Partnerships

Workforce
Statistics

Community Planning
Development & Services

Workforce Board
Resources

Privacy S

with a qualified third-party vendor to provide education programs for all newly elected or appointed members of special district governing bodies, such as the code
of ethics for public officers and employees, public meeting and public records requirements, public finance and parliamentary procedure.

The program publishes and continuously updates the Florida Special District Handbook Online to help special districts understand and comply with the
requirements of the Act. Topics include special district basics, such as definitions and status distinctions, how to create, modify and dissolve special districts,
general operating procedures and reporting requirements. Included is the evaluation and appraisal notification schedule for public facilities reporting to the county
or municipality in which the special district is located (see The Public Facilities Report).

Helping to Ensure the Accountability of Special Districts to State and Local Governments
The program has a series of duties relating to the accountability of special districts to state and local governments. When a special district fails to comply with
certain reporting and filing requirements, the state and local agency files a noncompliance status report with the program for posting on the program's website (see
Special District Noncompliance Status Reports). Next, the program helps the agency collect the delinquent report from the special district by mailing a certified
technical assistance letter to the special district explaining the requirement in detail and providing 60 days to comply (see Accountability Overview - Technical
Assistance). If the special district remains noncompliant, the Joint Legislative Auditing Committee may request the program to initiate enforcement proceedings
through the circuit court or declare the special district inactive for dissolution (see Noncompliance Status Reports and Follow-up Action).

Collecting an Annual State Fee to Fund the Program
The program does not receive general revenue funding. Instead, the Act requires the program to establish a fee schedule by rule (see Chapter 73C-24, Florida
Administrative Code - Special District Accountability Program ) for purposes of collecting an annual state fee from each special district to cover the costs of
administering the Act. This fee schedule corresponds with the fiscal year that most special districts must use (October 1 through September 30).

Each year around October 1, the program mails the "Special District Fee Invoice and Update Form" (form) to each special district. For most special districts, the
annual state fee is $175. A newly created special district pays a prorated state fee for its first fiscal year depending upon the quarter in which it was created:

If created during the first quarter (October 1 through December 31) the fee is $150.

If created during the second quarter (January 1 through March 31) the fee is $125.

If created during the third quarter (April 1 through June 30) the fee is $100.

If created during the fourth quarter (July 1 through September 30) the fee is $75.

A special district meeting all three of the following conditions is not required to pay an annual state fee if its registered agent completes the section on the form
certifying that all three of the following statements are true. Upon verification, the program will approve the zero fee.

The special district and its Certified Public Accountant determined the special district is not a component unit of a local general-purpose government.

The special district has complied with the reporting requirements of the Florida Department of Financial Services (see the Annual Financial Report).

Through the Annual Financial Report, the special district reported $3,000 or less in annual revenues for the most recent fiscal year in which complete
annual data is available. A newly created special district that has not yet filed an Annual Financial Report must attach an income statement verifying $3,000
or less in revenues for the current fiscal year.

To keep the official list up to date, the form also serves as a method to update the information on file with the program. Each special district must review and if
necessary update the information and return the form to the program along with payment by the due date, which is approximately 60 days after the invoice date.

Any special district not complying with state fee requirements by the due date will be subject to fines up to $50 (two late notices with an additional $25 late fee for
each notice).

Any special district not paying the state fee and fine will be reported to the State of Florida's contracted debt collection agency. This will result in additional fees and
a report of collection activities to the credit bureaus.

Contact Someone Who Can Answer Questions About the Special District Accountability Program
Additional Information - Florida Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District Accountability Program Contact

http://twitter.com/FLDEO
http://www.facebook.com/pages/Florida-Department-of-Economic-Opportunity/146985918727193
http://sitefinity.floridajobs.org/about-us
http://www.floridajobs.org/home
http://www.floridajobs.org/calendar
http://sitefinity.floridajobs.org/help-center
http://www.floridajobs.org/frequently-asked-questions-directory
http://www.floridajobs.org/help-center
http://sitefinity.floridajobs.org/news
http://www.floridajobs.org/office-directory
http://www.floridajobs.org/job-seekers-community-services
http://www.floridajobs.org/business-growth-and-partnerships
http://www.floridajobs.org/workforce-statistics
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development
http://www.floridajobs.org/workforce-board-resources
http://www.floridajobs.org/about-us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/department-privacy-statement
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/the-public-facilities-report
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/special-district-noncompliance-status-reports
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/accountability-overview#TA
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/accountability-overview#Fail
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=73C-24
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/the-annual-financial-report
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-agency-and-agency-contacts#SDIPContact


11/26/2018 About the Special District Accountability Program - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/about-the-special-district-accountability-pr… 3/3

An equal opportunity employer/program.  Auxiliary aids and services are available upon request to individuals with disabilities.
 All voice telephone numbers on this website may be reached by persons using TTY/TDD equipment via the Florida Relay Service at 711.



11/26/2018 Creating Special Districts - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/creating-special-districts#New 1/7

Search this site...  ESPAÑOL  | KREYÒL

Creating Special Districts

Home > Community Planning, Development and Services > Special Districts > Special District Accountability Program > Florida Special District Handbook Online > Creating Special Districts

Community Planning

Community Services

Community Development
Block Grants

Rural Community
Programs

Special Districts

Special District
Accountability Program

Official List of Special
Districts Online
Florida Special District
Handbook Online
Special District
Accountability and
Oversight
Common Issues
Regarding Special
Districts
Special District
Resources and Contacts
Special District
Noncompliance Status
Reports

Military Community
Programs

Reasons Why Special Districts Are Created
The Florida Legislature, municipalities, counties and the Governor and Cabinet create special districts for use by the private and public sectors for many different
reasons. For example:

Special districts are used to finance, construct, operate and maintain capital infrastructure, facilities and services.

Special districts often generate their own revenue to pay for projected growth (such as providing additional services, facilities and infrastructure) without
requiring other all taxpayers – who don't benefit from the special district's services – to pay; in other words, only those who benefit from the special district's
services actually pay. Common revenue sources include:

Ad valorem assessments

Non-ad valorem assessments

User fees

Tax increment financing

Tolls

Grants

Special districts can provide services when growth and development issues transcend the boundaries, responsibilities and authority of individual
municipalities and counties. This is the reason for regional and multi-county special districts.

Special districts – since they are local governments – are able to save money for their citizens by selling tax-exempt bonds (to provide financing),
purchasing essential goods and services tax-free and participating in state programs and initiatives, such as state-term contracting.

Special districts provide highly specialized local governmental services – often in response to citizen demand – that a municipality or county is unable or
unwilling to provide.

Special districts can be governed by a board of appointed or elected members who have the expertise to focus on the specialized function of the special
district. This allows municipalities and counties to focus on general governmental issues.

Special districts empower citizens to govern their own neighborhood / community since it is often possible for them to serve on the special district's
governing body. Further, governing body meetings are usually held near their homes, making it more convenient for citizens to attend the meetings.

Special districts ensure accountability of public resources because special districts and their governing boards are held to the same high standards as
municipalities and counties and their governing boards, in addition to the accountability standards under Chapter 189, Florida Statutes. Examples of
accountability standards include requirements to comply with financial reporting, Government-in-the-Sunshine and ethics laws.

Special districts protect property values by assuring property owners that their roads, water and sewer lines and other essential facilities and services will
continue to be maintained.

Special districts are more financially secure because their liability is limited in the case of civil lawsuits and special districts can receive state assistance in
the event of a financial emergency.

Special districts are local special-purpose governmental agencies with funding, employment and missions separate from local general-purpose
government.

Special districts can recruit qualified employees by offering governmental employment benefits and incentives, such as participation in Florida's Deferred
Compensation Plan and possible participation in the Florida Retirement System and housing assistance programs for certain employed personnel.

Creating Independent and Dependent Special Districts; Creation Document Requirements
The following sections cover how various types of special districts are created.

Creating Independent Special Districts

Generally, only the Florida Legislature may create independent special districts. However, the following exceptions apply:

Handbook Quick
Links

1. Handbook Topics

2. Subject Index

3. Reporting
Requirements By D
Date

4. Reporting
Requirements By
Agency and Agenc
Contacts

Reemployment Assistance
 Service Center

Business Growth
 & Partnerships

Workforce Statistics Community Planning,
 Development & Services

 

Workforce Development
 Board Resources

 

http://www.floridajobs.org/
https://connect.myflorida.com/Claimant/Core/Login.ASPX
https://connect.myflorida.com/Employer/Core/Login.ASPX
http://www.facebook.com/pages/Florida-Department-of-Economic-Opportunity/146985918727193
http://twitter.com/FLDEO
https://www.linkedin.com/company/fldeo/
http://www.floridajobs.org/job-seekers-community-services/unemployment-compensation-benefits-center/centro-de-beneficios-de-compensaci%C3%B3n-por-desempleo-(spanish)/presente-una-reclamaci%C3%B3n
http://www.floridajobs.org/job-seekers-community-services/unemployment-compensation-benefits-center/sant-avantaj-konpansasyon-pou-chomaj-(haitian-creole)/f%C3%A8-yon-demann
http://www.floridajobs.org/
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program
http://specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/special-district-accountability-and-oversight
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/common-issues-regarding-special-districts
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/special-district-resources-and-contacts
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/special-district-noncompliance-status-reports
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/subject-index
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-due-date
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-agency-and-agency-contacts
http://www.floridajobs.org/job-seekers
http://www.floridajobs.org/business-growth-and-partnerships
http://www.floridajobs.org/workforce-statistics/workforce-statistics-data-releases/latest-statistics
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development
http://www.myflfamilies.com/service-programs/human-trafficking%20
http://www.floridajobs.org/workforce-professionals


11/26/2018 Creating Special Districts - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/creating-special-districts#New 2/7

The Governor and Cabinet may create:

Community Development Districts with a size of 2,500 acres or more (see Chapter 190, Florida Statutes - Community Development Districts ).

Regional Water Supply Authorities (see section 373.713, Florida Statutes - Regional water supply authorities ).

A county may create:

County Children's Services Districts (see section 125.901, Florida Statutes - Children's services; independent special district; council; powers,
duties, and functions; public records exemption ).

County Health and Mental Health Care Districts (see section 154.331, Florida Statutes - County health and mental health care special districts ).

County Hospital Districts (see Chapter 155, Florida Statutes - Hospitals ).

Community Development Districts (see Chapter 190, Florida Statutes - Community Development Districts ).

Two or more counties may create:

Regional Jail Districts (see section 950.001, Florida Statutes - Regional jails; establishment, operation ).

Community Development Districts (see Chapter 190, Florida Statutes - Community Development Districts ).

Any combination of two or more counties or municipalities may create:

Regional Water Supply Authorities (see section 373.713, Florida Statutes - Regional water supply authorities ).

Community Development Districts (see Chapter 190, Florida Statutes - Community Development Districts ).

Any combination of two or more counties, municipalities or other political subdivisions may create:

Regional Transportation Authorities (see section 163.567, Florida Statutes - Regional transportation authorities ).

A municipality may create:

Community Development Districts (see Chapter 190, Florida Statutes - Community Development Districts ).

Creation Document Requirements for Independent Special Districts
The charter (a general law or a special act) that establishes an independent special district must address the following:

1. A status statement referencing its independent status. Recommendation: Include a brief statement explaining why the special district is independent (such
as, it does not meet any criteria listed in section 189.012(2), Florida Statutes - Definitions ). When necessary, this status statement must be amended to
conform to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity's determination or declaratory statement regarding the status of the special district. When
practical and feasible, the charter of an existing independent special district must be amended to contain a reference to the status of the special district as
independent.

2. The special district's purpose.

3. The powers, functions and duties of the special district regarding the following:

a. Ad Valorem Taxation,

b. Bond Issuance,

c. Other Revenue-Raising Capabilities,

d. Budget Preparation and Approval Processes,

e. Liens and Liens Foreclosure, and

f. Use of Tax Deeds and Tax Certificates as Appropriate for Non-Ad Valorem Assessments and Contractual Agreements.

4. The method for establishing the special district.

5. The method for amending the charter of the special district.

6. The membership and organization of the governing board. If the special district uses a one-acre/one-vote election principle, it must provide for a governing
board consisting of five members with three members making up a quorum.

7. The maximum compensation of a governing board member.

8. The administrative duties of the governing board.

9. The applicable financial disclosure, noticing and reporting requirements.

10. The procedures and requirements for issuing bonds, if applicable.

11. Election procedures, the qualifications of an elector and/or required referenda.

12. The methods for financing the special district.

13. The authorized millage rate (only if the special district has the authority to levy ad valorem taxes, other than taxes levied for the payment of bonds and
taxes levied for periods not longer than two years when authorized by vote of the electors of the special district).

14. The methods for collecting non-ad valorem assessments, fees or service charges.

15. Planning requirements.

16. The geographic boundary limitations.

Charter (Creation Document) Exemptions Not Allowed

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0190/0190ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20190
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=373.713&URL=0300-0399/0373/Sections/0373.713.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=125.901&URL=0100-0199/0125/Sections/0125.901.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=154.331&URL=0100-0199/0154/Sections/0154.331.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0155/0155ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20155
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0190/0190ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20190
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=950.001&URL=0900-0999/0950/Sections/0950.001.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0190/0190ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20190
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=373.713&URL=0300-0399/0373/Sections/0373.713.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0190/0190ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20190
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=163.567&URL=0100-0199/0163/Sections/0163.567.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0190/0190ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20190
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0189/Sections/0189.012.html


11/26/2018 Creating Special Districts - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/creating-special-districts#New 3/7

The general law or special act that establishes an independent special district must not exempt the special district from the following requirements of Chapter 189,
Florida Statutes:

Elections,

Bond Referenda,

Reporting,

Public Notices, and

Public Meetings.

Creating Dependent Special Districts
The legislature may create dependent special districts by special act at the request or with the consent of the county or municipality upon which the special
district will be dependent.

A county may create dependent special districts within its boundaries by ordinance, subject to the approval of the governing body of the incorporated area
affected (if any).

A municipality may create dependent special districts within its boundaries, by ordinance.

Creation Document Requirements for Dependent Special Districts
The local ordinance creating a dependent special district must include the following at a minimum:

1. Its purpose, powers, functions and duties;

2. Its geographic boundary limitations;

3. The statutory authority to create the special district (e.g., section, 189.02, Florida Statutes, Chapter 163, Part III, Florida Statutes, etc.);

4. A statement explaining why the special district is the best alternative;

5. The membership, organization, compensation and administrative duties of the governing body;

6. The applicable financial disclosure, noticing and reporting requirements;

7. The methods for financing the special district;

8. A declaration that the creation of the special district is consistent with the approved local government comprehensive plans; and

9. A status statement referencing the status of the special district as dependent. A recommendation is to include a brief statement documenting the
dependent criteria listed in section 189.012(2), Florida Statutes - Definitions , that apply to the special district. When necessary, this status statement
must be amended to conform to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity's determination or declaratory statement regarding the status of the
district. When practical and feasible, the charter of an existing dependent special district must be amended to contain a reference to the status of the
special district as dependent.

Newly Created Special District Responsibilities

Notify the Florida Legislature (independent special districts only)
When a local general-purpose government creates an independent special district, it must submit a statement to the Florida Legislature that includes the following:

1. The purpose of the proposed special district,

2. The authority of the proposed special district,

3. An explanation of why the special district is the best alternative and

4. A resolution or official statement from the local general-purpose government's governing body or an administrator stating the following:

a. The creation of the proposed special district is consistent with approved local government comprehensive plans and

b. The local general-purpose government does not object to its creation.

Notify the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District Accountability Program
Within 30 days after its creation date, each dependent and independent special district must notify the Special District Accountability Program (Program) of its
existence by filing the following documents and information with the program (electronic submission via email is preferred - see Additional Information - Florida
Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District Accountability Program Contact):

1. The special district's creation document.

2. A written status statement that includes a reference to the status of the special district as dependent or independent and the basis for such classification. If
this is not filed with the program, the department may determine the status and render its determination to an agent of the special district.

3. A map of the special district clearly showing the following, if applicable:

a. The special district's boundaries.

b. Municipal boundaries, if any, crossing the special district's boundaries.

c. County lines, if the special district is in more than one county.

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0189/Sections/0189.012.html
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/assistance-for-governments-and-organizations/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-agency-and-agency-contacts#SDIPContact


11/26/2018 Creating Special Districts - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/creating-special-districts#New 4/7

4. If known, the registered agent's name, address, telephone, fax and email. If not known, file this information within 30 days after the governing body's first
meeting.

Within 30 days of receiving these documents, the Program will do the following:

1. Review the creation documents to verify the special district's dependent or independent status.

2. Add the special district to the Official List of Special Districts Online.

3. Notify the special district and the local general-purpose government of the status determination.

4. Send the Annual Special District Fee Invoice and Update Form to the Special District.

Comply with the Annual State Fee and Update Requirement
When the special district files with the Program, the Program will send the Special District Fee Invoice and Update Form to the special district for the annual state
fee. This fee may be prorated based on when the special district was created (see Collecting an Annual State Fee to Fund the Program).

In addition, the special district must review the special district's information on the form, make necessary changes, complete missing information, have the
registered agent sign it and return it to the Program. Making sure the information on this form is correct is very important, since the Program must make the
information available through the Official List of Special Districts Online. By the due date on the form, the special district must comply with the state fee requirement
and return the form to the Program.

Designate a Registered Agent and Registered Office
Within 30 days after its first meeting of its governing board, each special district must designate a registered agent and a registered office, then provide that
information to the following:

1. The Special District Accountability Program.

2. The Local Governing Authority (each local general-purpose government in which the special district is located).

Registered Agent Defined
A registered agent is an agent of the special district upon whom any process, notice or demand required or permitted by law to be served upon the special district
may be served. The registered agent must be an individual resident of Florida whose business address is the same as the special district's registered office. The
registered office does not have to be the special district's place of business.

How to Change a Registered Agent and/or Registered Office
A special district may change its registered office and/or registered agent anytime by filing such changes with the county or municipality in which the special district
is located and by sending an email to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District Accountability Program (see Additional Information - Florida
Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District Accountability Program Contact). This notification must occur immediately upon making the change.

Start Complying with All Applicable Reporting Requirements
Special Districts must begin complying with all applicable reporting requirements immediately. For example, each newly created special district must comply with
its Annual Financial Report requirement (see The Annual Financial Report) starting with the fiscal year in which it was created, even if the special district has no
revenues, no expenditures and no debt.

Develop and Maintain an Official Website
To increase special district accountability, oversight and transparency, all special districts must maintain an official website that complies with accessibility and
minimum content requirements. Each new special district must have an official website by the end of the first full fiscal year after its creation.

Website Accessibility Requirements
Special district websites must comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and, if the special district received federal funding, the Rehabilitation Act of
1973. One way to help meet these requirements is to make websites accessible to people with disabilities who use assistive technology devices to access the
Internet. Each special district should consult with its legal counsel regarding compliance requirements and should ensure that its webmaster is well trained in
making websites accessible. You may test your webpages for compliance using commercial or free online checkers and evaluators and correct noted deficiencies.
Examples of accessible website features include, but are not limited to, the following:

A "skip navigation" link is present at the top of each webpage so screen reader users can bypass the various navigational links and go directly to the main
content.

Portable Document Format (PDF) files are readable by screen readers and braille displays. Unless remediated, scanned documents are not compliant. As
an alternative, the content is provided in Hypertext Markup Language (HTML).

Links are descriptive so they make sense when read out of context.

Links are unique.

Acronyms have the proper markup to tell screen readers what to read.

"Alt tags" are present for images so screen reader users can hear a text alternative of the image. "Long descriptions" are present for complex images, such
as graphs and charts, so screen reader users are redirected to a separate text-based page that provides a detailed explanation.

Videos have closed captioning or plain text scripts.

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/assistance-for-governments-and-organizations/special-district-accountability-program/official-list-of-special-districts-online
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/assistance-for-governments-and-organizations/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/about-the-special-district-accountability-program#Fee
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/assistance-for-governments-and-organizations/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-agency-and-agency-contacts#SDIPContact
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/assistance-for-governments-and-organizations/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/the-annual-financial-report


11/26/2018 Creating Special Districts - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/creating-special-districts#New 5/7

Color is not used to convey a message.

Online forms contain corresponding labels.

For additional information about website accessibility, please visit the following resources:

Accessibility of State and Local Government Websites to People with Disabilities  

Americans with Disabilities Act Best Practices Tool Kit for State and Local Governments

Web Content Accessibility Guidelines Overview

Website Minimum Content Requirements
Special district websites must meet the following minimum requirements as applicable:

I. Basic Requirements:
A. Each independent special district must maintain a separate website.

B. Each dependent special district must be prominently displayed on the home page of the local general-purpose government upon which it is
dependent and linked to the special district's website. A dependent special district's website must:

1. Be maintained as a part of the local general-purpose government's website upon which it is dependent, or

2. Be maintained as a separate website

C. All special districts must ensure that their official website address is on file with the Special District Accountability Program so the program can link
to it from its website. To verify whether a special district's website address is on file with the program, see, Alphabetical List of Websites for Active
Special Districts .

II. Post the Following Information at a Minimum:
A. General Information:

1. The special district's full legal name (as cited in creation document and the Official List of Special Districts Online ).

2. A public purpose statement.

3. The special district's boundaries / service area(s) (posting a map may be useful).

4. The services provided.

5. The full text of the special district's charter (creation document), as amended. Community Development Districts may reference Chapter
190, Florida Statutes - Community Development Districts , as the uniform charter, but must include information relating to any grant of
special powers.

6. The Regulatory Plan (annual) – applicable to certain special districts with adopted rules – see Making Changes to Special Districts -
Reviewing and Revising Rules - The Regulatory Plan.

7. The statute(s) under which the special district operates, if different from the statute(s) under which the special district was established.
Include Chapter 189, Florida Statutes - Uniform Special District Accountability Act , since all special districts must comply with this law.

8. Date established (effective date of creation document).

9. Establishing entity (legislature, county(ies), municipality(ies), or Governor and Cabinet).

B. General Contact Information:
1. Mailing address

2. Email address

3. Telephone number

4. Web address

5. Registered agent / registered office (name and address of the registered agent on file with the Special District Accountability Program and
listed in the Official List of Special Districts Online )

C. Contact Information for Each Governing Body Member:
1. Name

2. Official address

3. Official email address

4. If applicable, the term and appointing authority (county, municipality, Governor, etc.)

D. Revenue Information:
1. A listing of all taxes, fees, assessments or charges imposed and collected.

2. The rates or amounts for the current fiscal year.

3. The statutory authority for the levy of the tax, fee, assessment or charge.

E. General Financial Information:

http://www.ada.gov/websites2.htm
https://www.ada.gov/pcatoolkit/toolkitmain.htm
http://www.w3.org/WAI/standards-guidelines/wcag
http://specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/webreports/websitelist.aspx
http://specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0190/0190ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20190
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/making-changes-to-special-districts#Rules
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=0100-0199/0189/0189ContentsIndex.html&StatuteYear=2018&Title=%2D%3E2018%2D%3EChapter%20189
http://specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/


11/26/2018 Creating Special Districts - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/creating-special-districts#New 6/7

1. The fiscal year period - most special districts are required to use October 1 through September 30; some housing authorities use January 1
through December 31, April 1 through March 30 and July 1 through June 30.

2. A link to the Florida Department of Financial Services - Local Government Financial Reporting  webpage so the public can view the
special district's Annual Financial Report.

3. The final, complete audit report for the most recent completed fiscal year and audit reports required by law or authorized by the governing
body of the special district.

F. Budget Information:

1. The tentative budget, if applicable – post at least two days before the budget hearing held pursuant to section 200.065, Florida Statutes,
Method of fixing millage  or other law, to consider such budget and keep it on the website for at least 45 days;

2. Final adopted budget - post within 30 days after adoption and keep it on the website for at least two years (see General Budget
Requirements)

3. Budget amendment in which a resolution is required to adopt such an amendment (see Budget Amendment Procedures) - post within five
days after adoption and keep it on the website for at least two years.

G. Meeting Information:
1. Regular Public Meeting Schedule (quarterly, semiannually, or annually) (see Meeting Notices)

2. Meeting / workshop agendas - post a least seven days before the event and maintain on the website for at least one year.

3. Meeting materials, when available in an electronic format, excluding confidential and exempt information - post at least seven days before
the event and maintain on the website for at least one year.

H. Ethics Information:
1. Code of Ethics, if adopted.

2. A link to generally applicable ethics provisions (one option is to link to the Florida Commission on Ethics - Ethics Laws  webpage).

I. Retirement System Information - If applicable, Defined Benefit Retirement System or Plan Information (excluding the Florida Retirement
System), as required by section 112.664, Florida Statutes - Reporting standards for defined benefit retirement plans or systems . For
more information about the following retirement related website requirements, please see Additional Information - Florida Department of
Management Services, Division of Retirement Contact (Local Retirement):

1. The annual financial statements (for more information, see Additional Actuarial Disclosures) using prescribed mortality table (RP-2000
Combined Healthy Participant Mortality Tables, by gender, with generational projection by Scale AA).

2. The annual financial statements similar to those required above but which use an assumed rate of return on investments and an assumed
discount rate that are equal to 200 basis points less than the plan's assumed rate of return.

3. Information indicating the number of months or years for which the current market value of assets are adequate to sustain the payment of
expected retirement benefits as determined in the plan's latest valuation and under the financial statements prepared pursuant to (1) and (2)
above.

4. Information indicating the recommended contributions to the plan based on the plan's latest valuation and the contributions necessary to
fund the plan based on financial statements prepared pursuant to (1) and (2) above, stated as an annual dollar value and a percentage of
valuation payroll.

5. The funded ratio of the system or plan as determined in the most recent actuarial valuation as part of the disclosure.

6. The plan's most recent financial statement and actuarial valuation, including a link to the Florida Department of Management Services,
Division of Retirement Actuarial Summary Fact Sheet  for that plan.

7. For the previous five years, beginning with 2013, a side-by-side comparison of the plan's assumed rate of return compared to the actual rate
of return, as well as the percentages of cash, equity, bond and alternative investments in the plan portfolio.

8. Any charts and graphs of the data provided above presented in a standardized, user-friendly and easily interpretable format as prescribed
by the Department of Management Services.

J. Public Facilities Reports, if applicable (see The Public Facilities Report):
1. Public Facilities Initial Report

2. Public Facilities Annual Notice of Any Changes

3. Public Facilities Update Report

Contact Someone Who Can Answer Questions About Creating Special Districts
Additional Information - Florida Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District Accountability Program Contact

https://apps.fldfs.com/LocalGov/Reports/
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=200.065&URL=0200-0299/0200/Sections/0200.065.html
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/general-financial-requirements#General
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/general-financial-requirements#All
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/public-meeting-and-public-record-requirements#Notices
http://www.ethics.state.fl.us/Research/EthicsLaws.aspx
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=112.664&URL=0100-0199/0112/Sections/0112.664.html
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-agency-and-agency-contacts#DMSLRContact
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/retirement-plans-and-reporting-requirements#aad
http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/local_retirement_plans/local_retirement_section/actuarial_summary_fact_sheets
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/the-public-facilities-report
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/assistance-for-governments-and-organizations/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/reporting-requirements-by-agency-and-agency-contacts#SDIPContact


11/26/2018 Creating Special Districts - FloridaJobs.org

http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development/special-districts/special-district-accountability-program/florida-special-district-handbook-online/creating-special-districts#New 7/7

© 2018 State of Florida 
 Department of Economic

Opportunity

About Us Home Calendar Contact Us FAQs Help Center News Office DReemployment
Assistance Service

Center

Business Growth &
Partnerships

Workforce
Statistics

Community Planning
Development & Services

Workforce Board
Resources

Privacy S

An equal opportunity employer/program.  Auxiliary aids and services are available upon request to individuals with disabilities.
 All voice telephone numbers on this website may be reached by persons using TTY/TDD equipment via the Florida Relay Service at 711.

http://twitter.com/FLDEO
http://www.facebook.com/pages/Florida-Department-of-Economic-Opportunity/146985918727193
http://sitefinity.floridajobs.org/about-us
http://www.floridajobs.org/home
http://www.floridajobs.org/calendar
http://sitefinity.floridajobs.org/help-center
http://www.floridajobs.org/frequently-asked-questions-directory
http://www.floridajobs.org/help-center
http://sitefinity.floridajobs.org/news
http://www.floridajobs.org/office-directory
http://www.floridajobs.org/job-seekers-community-services
http://www.floridajobs.org/business-growth-and-partnerships
http://www.floridajobs.org/workforce-statistics
http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-development
http://www.floridajobs.org/workforce-board-resources
http://www.floridajobs.org/about-us/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/department-privacy-statement


1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. G 

Request Board Direction Regarding Creation of an Authority Website 
 

Executive Summary:  
 
This item requests Board direction regarding the creation of an official Authority website.  
 
Background:  
 
Section 189.069, Florida Statutes, requires (and the Authority’s bylaws contemplate) the 
Authority to maintain a website on which certain information must be posted including, 
at a minimum:  
 

1. The full legal name of the special district.  
2. The public purpose of the special district. 
3. The name, official address, official e-mail address, and, if applicable, term and 

appointing authority for each member of the governing body of the special 
district. 

4. The fiscal year of the special district. 
5. The full text of the special district’s charter, the date of establishment, the 

establishing entity, and the statute or statutes under which the special district 
operates, if different from the statute or statutes under which the special district 
was established. Community development districts may reference chapter 190 as 
the uniform charter but must include information relating to any grant of special 
powers. 

6. The mailing address, e-mail address, telephone number, and website uniform 
resource locator of the special district. 

7. A description of the boundaries or service area of, and the services provided by, 
the special district. 

8. A listing of all taxes, fees, assessments, or charges imposed and collected by the 
special district, including the rates or amounts for the fiscal year and the statutory 
authority for the levy of the tax, fee, assessment, or charge.  

9. The primary contact information for the special district for purposes of 
communication from DEO. 

10.  A code of ethics adopted by the special district, if applicable, and a hyperlink to 
generally applicable ethics provisions. 

11.  The budget of the special district and any amendments thereto in accordance 
with s. 189.016. 

12.  The final, complete audit report for the most recent completed fiscal year and 
audit reports required by law or authorized by the governing body of the special 
district. 

13.  A listing of its regularly scheduled public meetings as required by s. 189.015(1). 
14.  The public facilities report, if applicable. 



2 
 

15.  The link to the Department of Financial Services’ website as set forth in s. 
218.32(1)(g). 

16.  At least 7 days before each meeting or workshop, the agenda of the event, 
along with any meeting materials available in an electronic format, excluding 
confidential and exempt information. The information must remain on the website 
for at least 1 year after the event. 

 
Options: 
 
While no immediate action is required, the Board must consider options for complying 
with the statutory mandate that the Authority establish and maintain an official website.   
 
In the event the Board elects to engage a management company, website creation and 
updating could be the responsibility of that entity. 
 
 

 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. H 

2019 Meeting Schedule 
 

Executive Summary:  
 
This item requests Board approval of a schedule regular Board meetings for 2019.   
 
Background:  
 
Pursuant to section 189.015, F.S., at least annually the Authority must file a schedule of 
its regular meetings with the three member governments. Additionally, as discussed in 
Agenda Item V. G., such regular meeting schedule must also be posted to the 
Authority’s website (upon its creation).  
 
While there are no legal requirements dictating the frequency of Board meetings, the 
Authority may want to consider meeting at least monthly while the Authority is still in its 
infancy.  
 
Options: 
 
Option #1.  Approve the attached schedule establishing the dates and locations of 
regular Authority Board meetings for 2019 and transmit same to the three member 
governments. 
 
Option #2.  Do not approve the attached meeting schedule.  
 
Option #3.  Board direction.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
Option #1.  
  
Attachment; 
 
1. Proposed meeting schedule. 



GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.H, ATTACHMENT 1 



Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
2019 Board Meeting Schedule 

 

A-1 
 

Meeting Date and Time Meeting Location 
Monday, January 14, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, February 11, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, March 11, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, April 8, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 
 

Monday, May 13, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, June 10, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, July 8, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, August 12, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, September 9, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, October 14, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, November 11, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

Monday, December 9, 2019 
10:00 a.m., CST 

Washington County Annex, Chipley, Florida 

 
 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
Agenda Item V. I 

Procurement of Independent Auditor 
 

Executive Summary:  
 
 This item requests Board authorization to establish an audit committee to procure 
an independent auditor to perform an independent audit of the Authority for FY 2018, as 
required by law.  
 
Background:  
 
 Section 218.391, Florida Statutes, imposes certain requirements pertaining to the 
selection of an independent auditor to perform audits required of governmental entities 
by law.  Specifically, the Board is required to form an audit committee, which can simply 
be the Board, to perform the following tasks in conjunction with selection of an auditor: 
 
 (a) Establish factors to use for the evaluation of audit services to be provided by 
a certified public accounting firm duly licensed under chapter 473 and qualified to 
conduct audits in accordance with government auditing standards as adopted by the 
Florida Board of Accountancy. Such factors shall include, but are not limited to, ability of 
personnel, experience, ability to furnish the required services, and such other factors as 
may be determined by the committee to be applicable to its particular requirements. 
 
 (b) Publicly announce requests for proposals. Public announcements must 
include, at a minimum, a brief description of the audit and indicate how interested firms 
can apply for consideration. 
 
 (c) Provide interested firms with a request for proposal. The request for 
proposal shall include information on how proposals are to be evaluated and such other 
information the committee determines is necessary for the firm to prepare a proposal. 
 
 (d) Evaluate proposals provided by qualified firms. If compensation is one of the 
factors established pursuant to paragraph (a), it shall not be the sole or predominant 
factor used to evaluate proposals. 
 
 (e) Rank and recommend in order of preference no fewer than three firms 
deemed to be the most highly qualified to perform the required services after 
considering the factors established pursuant to paragraph (a). If fewer than three firms 
respond to the request for proposal, the committee shall recommend such firms as it 
deems to be the most highly qualified. 
 
 Following the recommendation of qualified firms by the audit committee, the 
Board must select the highest highest-ranked qualified firm or must document in its 



2 
 

public records the reason for not selecting the highest-ranked qualified firm. It is 
important to note that if compensation is one of the factors established in the evaluation 
of firms, it shall not be the sole or predominant factor used to evaluate proposals. 
 
General Counsel to the Authority has prepared the attached list of factors to be used in 
selection (Attachment 1).   
   
Options: 
 
Option #1.  Establish the Board as the audit committee pursuant to section 218.391, 
Florida Statutes, approve the Factors for Selection of Auditor provided as Attachment 1, 
and direct the General Counsel in conjunction with Washington County staff to prepare 
a request for proposals for an independent auditor in accordance with section 218.391, 
F.S. 
 
Option #2.  Do not establish the Board as the audit committee pursuant to section 
218.391, Florida Statutes, do not approve the factors for selection of an auditor provided 
as Attachment 1, and do not direct the General Counsel in conjunction with Washington 
County staff to prepare a request for proposals in accordance with section 218.391, F.S. 
 
Option # 3. Board Direction.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
Option #1.  
 
Attachments: 
 
1. Factors for Selection of Auditor 

 



GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.I, ATTACHMENT 1 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
General Business Agenda Item V. I, Attachment 1 

 
Factors for Selection of Auditor 

 
1. Experience/Profile of Firm  
 
 a. Describe the firm on an overall basis, both locally and nationally.  
 
 b. Summarize the firm’s qualifications regarding the audit of the Highway 79 
Corridor Authority, an independent special district under Florida law.  
 
 c. Describe the overall results of your firm’s most recent peer review.  
 
 
2. Ability of Personnel/Ability to Furnish Required Services 
 
 a. Describe the firm’s audit approach, including review of internal controls.  
 
 b. Describe how your firm will obtain a basic understanding of the Authority’s 
operations and activities for planning the audit.  
 
 c. Describe the key personnel to be utilized on the engagement along with 
résumés of key personnel. Indicate their degrees of expertise and prior experiences 
as appropriate for the engagement.  
 
 d. Describe your firm’s staff training and development policies and programs.  
 
 e.  Submit client references for each key member of the proposed client service 
team that will work on the audit.  
 
 f. Submit special district and other governmental client references. 
 
3. Responsiveness to Authority and Workload 
 
 a. Describe procedures utilized to monitor the progress of the work for periodic 
evaluation and communication to management of the Authority so that problems can 
be resolved.  
 
 b. Describe current workload and ability to perform the requested audit services 
on behalf of the Authority.  
 
 c. Identify key personnel who will be continuously available for consultation or 
discussion.  



2 
 

 d. Describe any relationships with your existing clients that might jeopardize your 
objectivity or independence or otherwise present a conflict of interest.  
 
4. Fees 
 
 a. Submit a proposed fee for the audit services requested herein. 
 



1 
 

Highway 79 Corridor Authority 
December 10, 2018 

 
Agenda Item V. J 

Update on Authority Filings 
 

Executive Summary:  
 
This item provides the Board an update on filings submitted in the time since the 
Board’s September meeting.  
 
Background:  
 
At the September 2018 meeting, the Board directed the preparation and submittal of the 
necessary applications for the Authority to obtain an Employment Identification Number 
(EIN) and State of Florida Consumer’s Certificate of Exemption providing that it is 
exempt from the payment of sales tax. The applications for both were submitted and the 
Authority is now in receipt of an EIN from the IRS and a Consumer’s Certificate of 
Exemption from the Florida Department of Revenue (Attachment 1).   
 
Options: 
 
No action is required.  
 
Attachments: 
 
1. Employment Identification Number 
2.  Consumer’s Certificate of Exemption.  

 



GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.J, ATTACHMENT 1 









GENERAL BUSINESS ITEM V.J, ATTACHMENT 2 






	Agenda
	Minutes - September 26, 2016 Board Meeting
	General Business Item V A
	DPFG
	Fishkind and Associates
	Government Services Group
	Governmental Management Services
	Inframark
	Rizzetta and Company
	Special District Services Inc.
	Wrathell Hunt and Associates
	General Business Item V B
	General Business Item V B_att 1
	General Business Item V C
	General Business Item V D
	General Business Item V E
	General Business Item V F
	About the Special District Accountability Program - FloridaJobs.org 2
	Creating Special Districts - FloridaJobs.org
	General Business Item V G
	General Business Item V H
	General Business Item V I
	General Business Item V I, Attachment 1
	General Business Item V J
	EIN
	Consumer's Certificate of Exemption
	General Business Item V D, Attachment 1



